

# Using Social Media Data to Understand People's Activities in Urban Green Spaces (UGSs)

GEO 511 Master's Thesis

Author

Anjing Zhang 21-741-756

Supervised by Dr. Inhye Kong

**Faculty representative** Prof. Dr. Ross Purves

> 25.09.2023 Department of Geography, University of Zurich



# Using Social Media Data to Understand People's Activities in Urban Green Spaces (UGSs)

GEO511 Master's Thesis

Author: Anjing Zhang 21-741-756

Supervisor: Dr. Inhye Kong Faculty member: Prof. Dr. Ross S. Purves Level: Master's Thesis Credits: 30 ECTs Semester Year: Fall 2023

Department of Geography, University of Zurich

# Abstract

Urban green spaces (UGSs) are essential for outdoor recreation in urban areas, providing ecosystem services and public benefits. Understanding people's activities in UGSs is crucial for increasing UGSs use and enhancing human well-being. Previous studies have mainly focused on investigating activities in urban parks and drivers of park use. Many other green spaces, such as sports fields and street green spaces, have not been thoroughly examined. Therefore, this study examined the use of various types of UGSs in Zurich using geo-tagged Flickr photographs. Firstly, Google Cloud Vision API and hierarchical clustering analysis were employed to identify people's activity types within UGSs. Then, Generalised Linear Models (GLM) were used to analyse relationships between spatial variables and various activities. Further, the impacts of spatial variables on activities in different UGSs categories were analysed. Results showed that four activity types were found: 'Flora & Fauna', 'Water activity', 'Sports & Recreation' and 'Cityscape'. All four activities were almost equally prevalent in Parks. 'Sports & Recreation' was the dominant activity type in Sports fields, while 'Cityscape' was the most popular activity in Street green spaces and Other green spaces. 'Water activity' was the least common activity in all types of UGSs except for the Park. Regression models showed that road density exhibited a significant positive correlation with the popularity of 'Sports & Recreation' and 'Cityscape' activities while displaying a negative association with 'Flora & Fauna' and 'Water activity'. Other variables such as area, distance to Zurich Lake, average elevation, and population density had varying impacts on these activities. The findings of this study can assist policymakers in enhancing the planning, construction, and maintenance of various UGSs.

Keywords: activities; urban green spaces (UGSs), image classification;

# Acknowledgment

First of all, my sincere thanks to my supervisors, Professor Ross S. Purves and Dr. Inhye Kong. Thanks to Ross for the initial brainstorming. Thanks to Inhye, who spent countless hours discussing the topic and direction of this study with me. Without her patient guidance and unreserved support, this thesis would not have ended in success. It is my honour to work with them.

I would also like to express my appreciation to Flickr and Google. Flickr provides me free access to their data, and Google enables me to conduct image classification. Without them, my work can not be carried out. They are the foundation of this study.

I would also like to thank my classmates Miya, Leyi and Tao for encouraging me throughout the process. Whenever I faced problems, they were the first to comfort me and help me. I am very grateful for their encouragement and help.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my family and all my friends for their ongoing love and support. Although we have not seen each other for almost two years, their love, understanding, and patience are instrumental for me.

# Table of Contents

1	Introduction	4
	1.1 Importance of urban green spaces	4
	1.2 Research gap	6
	1.3 Research questions	6
	1.4 Thesis structure	7
<b>2</b>	Literature review	8
-	2.1 Analyzing visitation patterns of UGSs using geotagged SM data	8
	2.1.1 Counting visitation frequency	8
	2.1.2 Spatial-temporal patterns of visitor activity	10
	2.1.3 Visitor characteristics	11
	2.2 Analyzing activities in UGSs	12
	2.2.1 Geo-tagged text	12
	2.2.2 Geo-tagged photos	13
	2.3 Factors influencing urban park visitation	14
3	Data and method	16
	3.1 Study area	16
	3.2 Research flow	17
	3.3 Data	19
	3.3.1 UGSs in Zurich	19
	3.3.2 Flickr images from 2009 to 2019	20
	3.3.3 Spatial variables	24
	3.4 Method	29
	3.4.1 Data preprocessing	29
	3.4.2 Image classification	33
	3.4.3 Hierarchical clustering analysis	35
	3.4.4 Regression analysis	35
4	Besult	37
-	4.1 Image classification and activity clustering	37
	4.1 Image classification and activity classering	40
	4.3 Relationship between activity types and UGSs types	41
	4.4 Influence of spatial variables on activity types	43
	4.4.1 All UGS types	43
	4.4.2 Variables influencing activities at different UGS types	45
_		4.0
5	Discussion	48
	5.1 Activities in UGSs	48
	5.2 Important spatial variables affecting activities in UGSs	49
	5.3 Implications	51
	5.4 Limitations	52
6	Conclusion	53

# **1** Introduction

#### **1.1** Importance of urban green spaces

Over the past few centuries, urbanization rates have experienced a swift increase on a global scale, resulting in more than half of the world's population currently residing in urban areas (Ritchie and Roser, 2018). This proportion is expected to continue increasing in the following decades (Angel et al., 2011). Rapid urbanization has brought various urban environmental issues, such as air and water pollution (Saucier et al., 2023), land degradation (Abu Hammad and Tumeizi, 2010), and so on. Along with environmental degradation, urbanization has brought a sedentary and stressful lifestyle (Pinchoff et al., 2020). Researchers have indicated that urbanization is associated with the epidemic of non-communicable diseases (NCDs), such as diabetes, obesity, cancer, and mental disorders (Howell et al., 1997, Schaefer et al., 2009). Therefore, large-scale urbanization in many countries worldwide has become a significant health concern.

Many studies have proven that Urban green spaces (UGSs) can improve the urban environment and help urban dwellers prevent diseases. UGSs are spaces mainly covered by natural elements. Potential UGSs include parks, green street spaces, sporting fields, riverside greenbelts, cemeteries, squares and plazas, public and private gardens, school and community gardens, waterways and wetlands (Mukherjee and Takara, 2018, Shen et al., 2017). On the one hand, UGSs present valuable opportunities for mitigating urban heat, enhancing air quality, reducing traffic noise (Grote et al., 2016, Nowak et al., 2018), and improving urban water management (Mukherjee and Takara, 2018). To achieve sustainable and resilient urban development, it is essential to understand the utilization of UGSs under global change, such as rapid urbanization, ecological environment deterioration, and extreme weather. Utilizing this knowledge can enhance the development of effective planning strategies that promote the optimal utilization and maintenance of green spaces (Kabisch et al., 2021). On the other hand, UGSs offer opportunities for dog walking, cycling, jogging, social gatherings with family and friends, and the appreciation of natural beauty, and other activities (Coombes et al., 2010, Razak et al., 2016). There is substantial evidence for various benefits of UGSs, including reducing stress (Neuvonen et al., 2007, Roe et al., 2013, Tyrväinen et al., 2014), increasing happiness (MacKerron and Mourato, 2013), enhancing physical health and mental health (James et al., 2015, Pretty et al., 2005, Zhang et al., 2020), and promoting social well-being (Hough, 2013, Keeler et al., 2019, Keniger et al., 2013). For example, a comprehensive systematic review

and meta-analysis conducted by Twohig-Bennett and Jones (2018), which encompassed 143 studies, found compelling evidence supporting the positive impact of UGSs exposure on various health outcomes. Their results indicated significant associations between green space exposure and decreased heart rate, reduced risk of type II diabetes, and lower all-cause mortality. According to a study conducted by Huerta and Utomo in Mexico City, urban residents who frequented UGSs at least once a week during the pandemic reported significantly higher subjective well-being scores, with an increase of 8.7%, compared to those who did not visit UGS at all (Huerta and Utomo, 2021). Therefore, analysing the usage of UGSs and gaining insight into the factors that contribute to the usage of UGSs can provide valuable guidance for the development and management of UGSs. This understanding becomes particularly crucial in meeting the needs of a growing urban population and understanding human-nature interaction in urban areas.

UGSs is a broad term, including parks and many other urban vegetated areas. Most previous studies focus on examining urban parks. A series of studies have investigated the use of urban parks using social media (SM) data, such as measuring visitation patterns of urban parks (Song et al., 2020b, Wood et al., 2013), identifying recreational activities (Huai et al., 2022, Song et al., 2020a), analysing visitors' emotions or preferences (Mondschein et al., 2020, Plunz et al., 2019, Wan et al., 2021, Zhu and Xu, 2021), assessing factors influencing park use (Donahue et al., 2018, Zhang and Zhou, 2018) and evaluating cultural ecosystem services (CES) of parks (Depietri et al., 2021, Huai et al., 2022, Oteros-Rozas et al., 2018). It is widely known that urban residents enjoy nature almost exclusively in urban parks, but many other kinds of green spaces also contribute to our daily exposure to nature. However, few studies have examined other types of UGSs using SM data. People can enjoy nature from different types of UGSs, like green street spaces and private gardens (Xiao et al., 2016), which can significantly supplement locations in which public parks are lacking (Hanson et al., 2021). For example, Dennis and James (2017) investigated the connections between public green spaces and gardens and their impacts on local health disparities in the North West of England. Their findings suggested that domestic gardens had a greater positive effect in mitigating health deprivation compared to public green spaces, underscoring the significance of private gardens as an essential health asset. Wang et al. (2022) found a positive association between the presence of green street spaces and the reduction of negative emotions. This suggests that higher levels of green spaces along urban streets are linked to a potential improvement in emotional well-being and a decrease in negative effects among individuals.

#### 1.2 Research gap

The global population's escalating shift toward urban living is driving the expansion of cities, resulting in not only environmental degradation but also a rise in physical and mental health challenges among individuals. UGSs can improve the urban environment, for example, by providing habitat for wildlife, reducing noise, improving air quality, etc. UGSs also offer opportunities for physical activity, stress reduction, and mental well-being, enhancing urban residents' overall health and quality of life.

However, most previous studies have primarily focused on the usage of urban parks. Many other types of UGSs, such as private gardens, street green spaces, sports fields, and green squares, have received limited attention. This knowledge gap highlights the need for a more comprehensive understanding of the utilization patterns associated with these diverse forms of UGSs. By addressing this limitation, a more holistic and inclusive perspective can be achieved in developing effective strategies for the utilization of all types of UGSs in urban settings.

#### **1.3** Research questions

Based on the limitations stated before, this study aims to investigate recreational activities in various types of UGSs and analyse how spatial factors affect various recreational activities within UGSs using geo-tagged Flickr images covering 2009 to 2019 for Zurich.

**Research Question 1:** What activities do people perform at different types of UGSs?

- Identifying types of activities based on Flickr images and auto-content identification
- Analysing recreational activities in different UGSs categories

**Research Question 2:** How do potential spatial variables affect various activities within different UGSs categories?

- Examining relationships between spatial variables and various types of activities
- Examining relationships between spatial variables and activities at different UGSs categories

This study expands research efforts to encompass a broader range of UGSs and provide valuable insights into their contributions to environmental sustainability, public health, and urban livability. It aims to offer a more holistic comprehension of the wide array of urban green spaces and how they impact environmental sustainability, public health, and urban planning. This study highlights the potential of using SM data to inform evidence-based urban planning and management decisionmaking. The findings of this study will contribute to a more inclusive and informed approach to UGS development and management, ensuring that the needs of urban populations are met across various types of green spaces. In addition, this study utilizes social media data to swiftly evaluate the utilization of urban green spaces, offering a cost-effective alternative to conventional surveys. This approach has the potential to enhance public green space management by delivering precise insights into user behaviour and the values of urban residents in a resource-efficient manner.

#### 1.4 Thesis structure

This paper is structured in the following manner: Chapter 2 examines the background of applying SM data to analyse the use of UGS, especially urban parks. In this section, there is a general summarization of the literature on UGSs and geo-tagged SM data, including measuring UGSs visitation, identifying recreational activities in UGSs, and analysing factors influencing park visitation. Chapter 3 introduces data and methods used in this study to process data. Chapter 4 provides a comprehensive description of the results obtained from the data exploration and primary analysis conducted in this study. The subsequent Chapter 5 examines the implications of these findings, addressing the research questions. In Chapter 6, a summary of the entire thesis is presented, encompassing a review of the results, establishing connections with relevant literature, a discussion of any limitations encountered, and offering recommendations for future research endeavours.

# 2 Literature review

#### 2.1 Analyzing visitation patterns of UGSs using geotagged SM data

#### 2.1.1 Counting visitation frequency

Measuring UGS use is essential for understanding the human-nature interaction in urban areas. Collecting comprehensive data on the usage of UGSs continues to present an ongoing challenge (Heikinheimo et al., 2020). Traditional survey approaches primarily rely on on-site observations and questionnaires (Priess et al., 2021, Sreetheran, 2017). The advantage of these methods is the questionnaire design to obtain specific information according to the research objectives. However, the responses provided by the participants can be affected by many factors, such as the interviewees' ages, genders, races, and incomes and the phrasing of survey questions (García-Díez et al., 2020, Scholte et al., 2018). Additionally, observations and questionnaire surveys often suffer from limited sample sizes, time and space constraints, and potential limitations in representing the broader public (Arnberger and Eder, 2015, Wright Wendel et al., 2012). These methods are very timeconsuming and money-consuming (Tenerelli et al., 2016). In addition, observation data is valuable for gathering statistics on visitor utilization frequency and preferences for physical activities due to its abundance of information. However, it is not well-suited for spatial analysis due to the lack of geographical knowledge. Considering the advantages and limitations of traditional data, there is a growing need for new data sources that can effectively map and measure visitation, taking into account both spatial and non-spatial information (Shoval and Ahas, 2016).

Considering the limitations associated with traditional techniques, there has been a growing interest in utilizing geo-located SM data as a novel approach to analysing the usage of UGSs. SM data typically comprises real-time contributions from active users, encompassing elements like reviews, images, hashtags, and check-in (Chen et al., 2018, Martí et al., 2019). SM platforms like Flickr, Twitter, Instagram and Weibo are most frequently used in previous studies (Cui et al., 2021). These platforms facilitate individuals in sharing their experiences and viewpoints by publicly uploading either textual data (such as words, and tags) or non-textual content (including pictures and videos) on the internet (Norman and Pickering, 2019). Twitter, established in 2006, is a popular platform for the public to express their thoughts while providing a valuable geo-tagged text source. Users can tweet messages with precise geographic coordinates on Twitter. This combination of textual content and location data within tweets presents a unique opportunity to extract valuable insights and gain a deeper understanding of the spatial aspects of people's experiences and perspectives (Cui et al., 2021). Similarly, photo-sharing websites like Flickr, established in 2004, offer a means for individuals to share their photos, resulting in an extensive collection of freely accessible usergenerated data resources. Instagram, launched in 2010, is a platform for sharing self-generated and user-generated content (Tenkanen et al., 2017). Weibo, also named Sina micro-blog, is China's largest social networking website. It allows users to disclose their locations when they publish micro-blogs (Gu et al., 2016). This data type includes intricate spatiotemporal details and highly visually appealing content, providing significant value in analyzing visitors' spatial and Landscape preferences across a wide range of dimensions (Schirpke et al., 2021).

It has become increasingly evident that geo-tagged SM data can represent a valuable source of information for understanding tourism and visitor patterns. Given the widespread adoption of SM and the convenient accessibility and affordability of its data, many studies have demonstrated that geotagged SM data can be a reasonable proxy for recreational visitation in national parks, protected areas, and urban parks (Ghermandi, 2022). By comparing visitation rates estimated by geo-tagged images from Flickr and empirical data at 836 recreational sites worldwide, (Wood et al., 2013) firstly demonstrated that geo-tagged photos are a suitable proxy of visitation. Ever since the first comprehensive study was published, the correlation between actual visitor statistics and the number of geotagged photographs was revealed. It has become evident that geotagged photos from Flickr have significant potential for understanding tourism visitation patterns. Subsequently, some studies have expanded the scope of data sources to other media-sharing platforms, such as Instagram, Twitter, and Weibo. Extensive research that analyzes this field has expanded to various typologies of sites, including national parks and national reserves to urban parks. Sessions et al. (2016) compared survey data with SM data for 38 National Parks located in the western United States. They found that the monthly count of photos posted within a park is a dependable indicator of visitor numbers during that particular month. After analysing geo-tagged pictures from Instagram and Flickr in a National Park in South Africa, Hausmann et al. (2017) pointed out that no noteworthy distinction was observed between the preferences expressed by tourists in surveys and the preferences uncovered through content shared on SM. Heikinheimo et al. (2017) conducted a study comparing systematically collected survey data and geo-tagged SM data content in Finland's most famous national park. Their study indicated the successful utilization of SM data in identifying the most popular sub-regions within the park and extracting pertinent information regarding visitors' activities in this national park. Hamstead et al. (2018) compared the visitation frequency measured by Flickr photographs and tourists' surveys in National Parks across the western United States. The results of their analysis support the notion that the monthly count of geotagged photos within a park can serve as a reliable indicator of the number of visitors during the corresponding month. Song et al. (2020a) indicated that geotagged SM data would more accurately depict visitors' preferences compared to their park visit frequency. To support this assertion, he conducted a comparative analysis with household surveys conducted in urban parks across Singapore. Therefore, regarding urban parks, the utilization of SM data has predominantly focused on analyzing visitation patterns rather than assessing the accuracy and reliability of such data as a proxy for actual visitation.

#### 2.1.2 Spatial-temporal patterns of visitor activity

Geotagged SM data has also been used to reveal the spatial and temporal patterns of visitor activity (Lyu and Zhang, 2019). Barros et al. (2019) conducted a comprehensive analysis of visitor behaviour in Spain's most famous national park by integrating geotagged photographs from Flickr, GPS tracks, and official data. Their study examined the origins of visitors, spatial distribution, and monthly visitation patterns. The findings demonstrated that data from SM proved to be a valuable resource for analyzing visitor behaviour patterns in national parks. Liang and Zhang (2021) utilized multiple SM data to analyze the temporal and spatial patterns of urban park visitation in Shanghai. Their findings revealed that park visitation in Shanghai exhibited spatially and temporally uneven distribution. They also observed a preference for parks in downtown districts and a higher inclination to visit parks during the spring season and on non-workdays. Cui et al. (2022) examined the spatiotemporal changes in utilising various UGSs in London during the COVID-19-related lockdowns by analysing geotagged Twitter data. Their study showed differences in spatial and temporal patterns of UGSs visitation before and during the COVID-19 breakout. Chen et al. (2018) used SM real-time Tencent user density data to measure the use of 686 urban parks of Shenzhen and revealed the temporal visitation patterns of parks in Shenzhen: on work days, the peak hour shifts to 13:00 and 19:00 to 20:00, corresponding to the time when individuals who are employed have opportunities to explore urban parks. However, during rest days, the peak hour for urban park visits typically takes place between 15:00 and 17:00. A notable difference becomes evident: 13:00 stands out as the busiest hour on workdays but as the least active hour during days off. Interestingly, between 0:00 and 8:00, there is minimal variation in urban park usage between work and rest days. For spatial patterns, they found that parks located in more developed areas were usually more frequently visited. Rizwan et al. (2018) used Sina Weibo check-in data to investigate users' behaviour in 10 districts of Shanghai, revealing a noteworthy trend of increased SM usage among female users. Moreover, they detected notable differences in people's behaviour in different districts when comparing weekdays and weekends. Additionally, there was an observed increase in check-ins during nighttime compared to the morning hours. Huang (2023) developed a framework and formal procedure to analyze visitor activity patterns in national parks using SM data. This framework explores various dimensions, including the annual and monthly trends in visitor activity times, the movement patterns of park visitors, and the connections between Points of Interest (POIs). The study took four highly visited U.S. national parks as examples. The results from the case study indicated that walking durations tend to be more extended during the spring and fall seasons, while stationary periods peaked in the winter. However, due to differences in climate, landscape features, and geographical positions, the seasonal variations in visitor activity times differed notably among these distinct parks.

#### 2.1.3 Visitor characteristics

A number of studies have explored the visitation patterns of different groups of tourists. Sessions et al. (2016) evaluated the reliability of utilizing crowd-sourced online photos to provide insights into the behaviours and preferences among international visitors, out-of-state tourists and in-state tourists. Their assessment involved a comparison of empirical data with photographic data sourced from the online platform Flickr for 38 Western United States National Parks. They found that access rates derived from surveys and Flickr data were comparable. However, they found that estimates based on SM data tended to exaggerate the presence of international tourists while minimizing the number of out-of-state visitors, with an error margin ranging from 5% to 20%. This overestimation of international visitors in the photographs may be attributed to the possibility that international tourists were more inclined to share their experiences through photos, potentially indicating a more profound and memorable experience for them. Huai et al. (2022) analyzed the spatial behaviour patterns and landscape preferences of both tourists and residents in the urban parks of Brussels using SM images and computer vision techniques. They observed that tourists were more focused on the place's identity, particularly emphasizing landmark statues and constructions, whereas locals displayed a greater interest in native flora, flowers, insects, birds, and wildlife.

#### 2.2 Analyzing activities in UGSs

#### 2.2.1 Geo-tagged text

Utilizing location-based SM data offers a significant advantage in determining activity purposes. Various geo-tagged SM data, such as hashtags, reviews, check-in data, and photos, have been applied to identify human activities. Hashtags can reflect the subjective perceptions of an individual user, which can be used to recognise visitors' activities. Grzyb et al. (2021) discovered nine main categories of activities in UGSs of central Poland by aggregating Instagram hashtags, including 'nature in general', 'natural elements', 'health', etc. By using user-generated photo tags from Flickr, Schirpke et al. (2021) recognized 12 different cultural ecosystem services in the lakes in the European Alps, including landscape features, aesthetic experiences and recreation, tourism, nature observation, education, the sense of place, culture, heritage, etc. Huang (2023) analysed Flickr photos tags and derived four basic activity types for parks' visitors, which were stationary, walking, riding, and flying namely.

Location-based check-in services within different SM applications enable individuals to share their activity-related preferences, presenting a valuable source for identifying human activity. Checkin data provides a brief link to the original location-based service provider. By querying the locationbased service provider, various activity categories can be classified based on the types of location (Hasan et al., 2013). By categorising different activity categories based on the kinds of visited sites, (ibid) identified six types of activities within three US cities: home, work office, eating, entertainment, recreation, and shopping. In another study conducted by Hasan and Ukkusuri (2014) in New York City, two additional types of activities were identified: social service and education.

Utilizing georeferenced text from platforms like Twitter, researchers can use detailed temporal and spatial data about visitors of UGSs, which can help address the question, 'What activities do people engage in when they visit UGSs?'. For example, to categorize Twitter postings and identify people's activity types, Roberts (2017) manually screened tweets and calculated word frequencies to identify sports-related tweets, identifying seven distinct types of physical activity, including running, walking, biking, etc. This research illustrated the potential of geo-tagged SM data in investigating peoples' physical activities in UGSs, bridging gaps in conventional research methodologies. Sim et al. (2020) applied text mining to analyse the changes in human activities by month. For example, activities such as biking and walking were frequently mentioned in April, along with events like free jazz nights, while during the period from December to February, park users commonly referenced activities like walking and lighting. Salloum et al. (2017) employed text mining techniques to extract visitors' behaviour types in UGSs from unstructured tweets. They calculated word frequencies to identify various park activities and conducted sentiment analysis. Their study revealed that SM data can capture significant activities in parks, such as 'nature', 'sports', 'eating', etc., which is hard to distinguish in traditional questionnaire responses. By applying text mining to Twitter data in 10 functional categories of UGSs in London, Cui et al. (2022) identified six main groups of UGS activities, which were art, leisure, nature, physical, picnic, and social respectively.

#### 2.2.2 Geo-tagged photos

A photograph is worth more than a thousand words. Researchers typically search the tags, captions, or other textural photo descriptions generated by the users or the SM applications to extract the semantics of SM images (Spyrou and Mylonas, 2016). However, textual data may often be unavailable or may describe an image context that is unclear, incomplete, or hard to interpret (Koylu et al., 2019). Photographs have the ability to convey objective information and contain a great deal of detail about a visitor's interests or emotional state at a specific moment and location (Angradi et al., 2018, Sinclair et al., 2018). Some studies have applied manual classification to classify geo-tagged photos and recognize people's activities in UGSs. For example, Heikinheimo et al. (2020) conducted manual content categorization of a subset of SM images from Flickr and Instagram, and ultimately identified activities including physical activity, diet, water activities, etc.

Advancements in high-performance computing and deep learning have greatly enhanced the effectiveness and precision of computer vision algorithms when it comes to classifying images and detecting objects (Koylu et al., 2019). Richards and Tunçer (2018) introduced an innovative approach to assessing the ecosystem services of parks by utilizing an automated image-content classification algorithm of SM photographs. This method involved employing Google Cloud Vision, an online image identification algorithm, to analyze a dataset of over 20,000 photos captured in Singapore parks. Hierarchical clustering was subsequently applied to categorize these photographs, resulting in the identification of seven distinct clusters: transport, plants, animals, water, etc. To evaluate the precision of the combined image recognition and hierarchical clustering process, a quantitative assessment was conducted by comparing it with a manual evaluation. The analysis revealed an impressive overall accuracy rate of 85% for the classification of photos. Despite slight discrepancies observed when comparing the automated image recognition algorithm to the human manual type, the approach remains valid for rapidly assessing the ecosystem services values of parks. Huai et al. (2022) used another photo classification algorithm to identify parks' CES values. Their study showed that locals prefer natural elements like plants, flowers, and birds, while tourists showed more interest in remarkable sculptures and constructions in Brussels urban parks. In the study conducted by Song et al. (2020b), SM data was used to examine landscape preferences among various groups of park users, employing geo-tagged photos and automated image identification algorithms. The researchers categorized park photographs into ten distinct groups, including birds, plants and vegetation, food, etc. Substantial disparities were identified in both the quantity and categories of park photographs taken by tourists in contrast to local residents. These variations were also evident among distinct user groups delineated by the content of their photos.

#### 2.3 Factors influencing urban park visitation

Extensive research has examined the impacts of various physical and socio-cultural factors on urban parks' visitation. Three main categories of factors have been found that may affect the popularity of urban parks: park attributes, accessibility, and surrounding environment. Park attributes usually include park size, vegetation coverage, sports fields, children's playgrounds, presence of water body and lawn, distance to waterbody, toilet number, road length, and parking lots. After using SM photos to investigate the visitation rate of Shen Zhen urban parks, (Chen et al., 2018) found no relationship between park size and park attendance. However, in a study focusing on parks in Wuhan, park size presented a significant correlation with park visitation (Lyu and Zhang, 2019). In addition, Song et al. (2020a) found that park attributes like lawns and natural vegetation, the footpath length, and the waterfront area contributed to the higher popularity of parks in Singapore. Accessibility is considered to have a significant impact on park use. Good accessibility makes it easy for people to visit the park (Dallimer et al., 2014). Indicators like the number of bus and metro stops, road density, distance to the city centre, and number of public transport nodes are regular indicators for the accessibility of a park (Dallimer et al., 2014, Zhang and Zhou, 2018). Zhang and Zhou (2018) found that the number of bus stops and distance to the urban centre significantly affect park use in Beijing. Parks farther from the city centre and have fewer bus stops receive fewer visits. However, some studies found that indicators like the bus and metro stop density, and road node density have no significant relationship with the park's popularity (Chen et al., 2018, Lyu and Zhang, 2019). The surrounding environment features are usually structured by population density. building density, restaurants, recreational facilities, and household income (Donahue et al., 2018, Song et al., 2020a). People were likely to visit parks with convenient services and facilities, which meant that when choosing a park to visit. Donahue et al. (2018) employed SM data to analyze visitation patterns in urban and peri-urban green spaces within the metropolitan area of the Twin Cities, Minnesota, USA. Their results indicated that the presence of nearby water attractions, the count of park facilities, the length of trails, and the population density of the neighbouring community positively impact visitation rates of parks. In a study conducted in Wuhan parks, Lyu and Zhang (2019) discovered that accessibility demonstrated a positive association with park usage. However, the impacts of accessibility were comparatively lower than that of surrounding environment characteristics and park attributes on the visitation of parks in Wuhan. Chen et al. (2018) found that increasing bus and metro stop density and road node density did not significantly impact park usage in Shenzhen. In other words, accessibility had a minimal effect. However, the study found that park attributes, such as the presence of children's playgrounds, density of toilets, availability of shopping and restaurant (POIs), presence of parking lots, and park grade, were significantly associated with park usage. By applying automated image identification algorithms Song et al. (2020a) categorized geotagged photos in Singapore urban parks into five groups, including water&sky, recreation, plants, etc. They found that parks with an extended waterfront and location near a beach are associated with a higher frequency of photos of water &sky and recreation. This suggests that coastal recreational activities hold significance for many park visitors in Singapore.

Previous research has examined a wide array of variables to assess their relationship with park utilization. However, the key determinants influencing park usage show variations across different research studies. This divergence can be attributed to the likelihood that the variables influencing park use may differ depending on the specific characteristics of the green space, the demographics of the user group, or the urban context being studied (Donahue et al., 2018, Lyu and Zhang, 2019).

# 3 Data and method

#### 3.1 Study area

Zurich is the largest city in Switzerland and manages 12 districts. It is the economic centre of the German-speaking part of Switzerland. During the period from 2012 to 2021, Zurich's population has a consistent growth, experiencing an increase from 376,990 to 428,700 residents (SFS). It suggests that Zurich is experiencing an escalating level of urbanization pressure. Meanwhile, Zurich has acknowledged the significance of its public green spaces in enhancing the life quality for its residents (Seeland et al., 2009). Zurich's high quality of life is globally recognized, consistently ranked as the world's most livable city by Mercer, a prominent human resources consulting organization, since 2000 (Xu et al., 2019). A crucial contributing factor to this accolade is its outstanding public space system, which plays a pivotal role in its ongoing selection (Xu et al., 2018). Figure 1 shows the general situation of Zurich. The built-up areas are mainly in the area surrounding the lake and in the northern part.



Figure 1: Study area: Zurich.

#### 3.2 Research flow

This study uses geo-tagged SM photographs to analyze people's activities at UGSs. It also examines the factors influencing different types of activity and activities within different UGSs categories, taking Zurich as an example. Firstly, after preprocessing, 708 UGSs and 7614 Flickr images were left. Then, Google Cloud Vision API and hierarchical clustering techniques were employed to identify and categorize the Flickr images based on their contents. These types of Flickr images are used to represent visitors' activities within UGSs. Following this, the study investigates the relationship between predictors and different types of activities. Further, the study explores potential factors that influence different kinds of activities within a particular UGSs category. The whole technical workflow can be found in Figure 2.



18 Figure 2: Rresearch flow

#### 3.3 Data

#### 3.3.1 UGSs in Zurich

UGSs data for Zurich is downloaded from https://data.stadt-zuerich.ch/dataset/geo\_gruenflaechen in 23ch, March 2023. These data are provided by the Zurich Area Management System (FMS). They are based on the official cadastral survey of the City of Zurich, aerial photographs, and orthophoto maps. The raw UGS data for Zurich is categorized into four main categories and consists of 19 specific types:

- Parks: '611 Parks';
- Cemeteries: '623 Graveside services', '624 Cemetery facilities';
- Sports and swimming facilities: '631 Sports facilities', '632 Swimming facilities';
- Other open space: '641 Street trees', '642 Street greenery', '643 School Green', '650 School Grey IMMO', '651 Social buildings IMMO', '652 Administrative buildings IMMO', '653 Cultural buildings IMMO', '654 Factory buildings IMMO', '660 Housing estates LVZ', '661 Residential properties LVZ', '662 Stream maintenance ERZ', '663 Green space maintenance VBZ', '664 Green space maintenance EWZ', '690 Billable services'.

Considering the aims of this study and sample sizes, I merged the UGS categories of 'Cemeteries' and 'Other green space'. The reclassified UGSs types are listed below:

- Park: '611 Parks';
- Street green space: '641 Street trees', '642 Street greenery';
- Sports fields: '631 Sports facilities', '632 Swimming facilities'
- Other green spaces: '623 Graveside services', '624 Cemetery facilities', '641 Street trees', '642 Street greenery', '643 School Green', '650 School Grey IMMO', '651 Social buildings IMMO', '652 Administrative buildings IMMO', '653 Cultural buildings IMMO', '654 Factory buildings IMMO', '660 Housing estates LVZ', '661 Residential properties LVZ', '662 Stream maintenance ERZ', '663 Green space maintenance VBZ', '664 Green space maintenance EWZ', '690 Billable services'.

The distribution of UGSs is shown in Figure 3



Figure 3: Spatial distribution of UGSs for four different types

#### 3.3.2 Flickr images from 2009 to 2019

Flickr is an online photo-sharing platform that has gained significant popularity and recognition since its launch in 2004. It provides photographers, enthusiasts, and individuals a platform to show their work, explore creative inspiration, and connect with like-minded communities. With its extensive user base and diverse content, Flickr has become a valuable resource for researchers, enabling them to access and analyze visual data in social sciences, urban planning, tourism, and environmental studies. The platform's API (Application Programming Interface) allows developers to access and utilize Flickr's data and services, opening up possibilities for innovative research applications and analysis (Fox et al., 2020). This study downloaded 97,762 Flickr images around Zurich City, covering the period from 2009 to 2019. These images offer valuable visual insights into different facets of the city, providing a rich resource for studying and understanding Zurich city. From Figure 4, the maximum value was 3619.63 images per 2500  $m^2$ , minimum was 0. The areas with the higher image density were located mainly in Lake Zurich, Zurich's Old Town, the Zurich Zoo and the northeast corner of the city.



Figure 4: The density map of Flickr images in Zurich from 2009 to 2019.

The annual count of Flickr images in Zurich from 2009 to 2019 can be found in Figure 5. The number of annual images peaked in 2014, followed by a sudden drop, fluctuating between 4,000 and 6,000 from 2015 to 2019. This may be due to the fact that Flickr was gradually replaced by other SM platforms after 2014. In addition, the number of images per month peaks in August, meaning

that Zurich UGS is mainly visited in August. In contrast, January and February saw fewer visits.



Figure 5: (a) Annual count of Flickr and (b) Monthly count of Flickr images.

#### 3.3.3 Spatial variables

As Table 1 shows, ten variables from three categories were selected in this study. 1) Seven park attributes — park area, vegetation coverage, distance to Zurich Lake, average elevation, length of footpath and cycleway, tree number and fountain number were used to describe the park's attributes. 2) Two independent variables, road density and transport nodes, were used to evaluate UGSs accessibility. 3) One variable, population density, was used to describe the surrounding environment features. These variables are derived from publicly available geospatial data, without the need for costly and time-consuming field surveys.

Types	Variables	Description	Data Sources	scale
	Area $(m^2)$	Calculated from the polygon shapefile in ArcGIS 10.6	Zurich open data	
	Vegetation coverage	mean NDVI of each UGS	Zurich open data	
Attribute	Distance to Zurich lake (m)	Nearest Euclidean distance from the park edge to lake edge	Zurich open data	Park level
	Fountain number	Number of fountains within each UGS	Zurich open data	
	Length of cycleway and footpath (m)	Polyline shape files included the categories 'cycleway', footway', 'pedestrian', 'path', 'track', 'steps', and 'bridleway'; Cycle- ways and footpaths within 10 m beyond polygon boundaries were included.	Open street map	
	Average ele- vation (m)	Average elevation of each UGS	GeoVITe	
	Tree number	Number of trees within each UGS	Zurich open data	
Accessibility	Road density (m/m <sup>2</sup> )	Polyline shape files include the categories 'primary', 'sec- ondary', 'tertiary', 'residential', 'service', 'motorway', 'trunk', 'living street' 'unclassified', as well as related 'link' roads. Road density is calculated by dividing the total length of these roads by the 100-meter buffer zone.	Open street map	Neighbourhood-level ( within 100 meter buffer)
	Transportation stops	Number of bus and tram stops within neighbourhood	OpenStreetMap	
Surrounding				
environment	Population density	mean population density within 500-meter buffer	Zurich open data	Neighbourhood-level (within 500m buffer zone)

Table 1: Descriptions for spatial variables used in this study.

Details of each variable can be found below:

#### Area

The area of each UGS was calculated based on the polygon shapefiles using ArcGIS10.6. (Unit:  $m^2$ )

#### Vegetation coverage

Vegetation coverage is represented by the Normalized Differential Vegetation Index (NDVI), which is a vegetation index that provides information about the presence and health of vegetation based on the difference in reflectance between near-infrared (NIR) and red light. The NDVI values range from -1 to +1, with different ranges indicating different characteristics. Negative values (-1 to 0): These values typically represent water bodies, clouds, or other non-vegetated surfaces, as they have low reflectance in both NIR and red wavelengths; Values close to zero (0 to 0.1): These values indicate shallow vegetation cover or sparse vegetation, such as barren land or areas with little or no vegetation; Low to moderate values (0.1 to 0.3): These values represent areas with medium vegetation cover, such as grasslands, shrublands, or agricultural lands with crops in early stages; High values (0.3 to 0.7): These values indicate dense vegetation, such as forests, dense crops, or areas with lush green vegetation; Very high values (0.7 to 1): These values are rare and often associated with thick, healthy foliage, such as tropical rainforests (Carlson and Ripley, 1997).

The Zurich NDVI data was downloaded in https://data.stadtzuerich.ch/dataset/geo\_ orthofoto\_2010\_bund\_\_\_sommer\_\_\_quasi\_true\_\_\_ndvi. It was generated by a Digital Surface Model (DOM) obtained from ADS80 aerial image strips during the summer survey of 2010 conducted by Swisstopo. The resolution is 25 centimetres. The zonal statistics tool in QGIS was applied to measure the average NDVI in each UGS.

#### Distance to Zurich Lake

ArcGIS10.6 was used to calculate UGS's distance to Zurich Lake. Zurich Lake polygon was extracted from the Waterbody area (downloaded from https://data.stadt-zuerich.ch/dataset/ ktzh\_av\_gewaesser\_\_ogd\_). The nearest Euclidean distance from the park edge to Zurich Lake represented the distance to Zurich Lake. (Unit: m)

#### Fountain number

Zurich fountain data can be downloaded from (https://data.stadt-zuerich.ch/dataset/ geo\_brunnen). There are 12000 fountains in Zurich, including wells from the water supply and other service departments in Zurich and private wells. This study calculated the number of fountains within each UGS boundary. This data was updated on April 13 2023.

#### Length of cycleway and footpath

Zurich road data was obtained from OpenStreetMap (OSM). Established in 2004, the OSM project has garnered significant attention in recent years. It is one of the most notable sources of Volunteered Geographic Information (VGI) on the Internet, accumulating a wealth of data. The project's growth and the extensive data it offers have contributed to its rising prominence and popularity. Unlike platforms like Wikipedia and Flickr, which primarily rely on user contributions to specific topics or images, the OSM project focuses on gathering detailed information about elements such as streets, roads, transportation nodes, points of interest, and buildings. OSM emphasises including precise geographic references in the collected data, providing a comprehensive and geographically oriented database (Neis and Zipf, 2012). The Zurich OSM dataset was downloaded from https://download.geofabrik.de/europe/switzerland.html on March 9 2023. I only used Zurich road polygon data and transportation nodes point data.

In the OSM road polyline data, there are 27 types of roads in Zurich OSM data: bridleway; cycleway; footway; living\_street; motorway; motorway\_link; path; pedestrian; primary; primary\_link; secondary\_link; residential; secondary; tertiary\_link; track; service; steps; tertiary; track\_grade 1; track\_grade 2; track\_grade 3; track\_grade 4; track\_grade 5; trunk; trunk\_link; unclassified; unknown. Polyline shape files included categories: 'pedestrian', footway', 'path', 'track', 'steps', and 'bridleway'; Cycleways and footpaths are recognised as footpaths. Polyline shape file categories as 'cycleway' is recognised as the cycleway. Cycleway and footpath polyline shape files within 10 meters beyond UGS polygon boundaries were included. (Unit: m)

#### Average elevation

A digital elevation model (DEM) is a three-dimensional representation of a terrain's surface created from terrain elevation data. Zurich (DEM) data is downloaded from https://geovite.ethz.ch/DigitalElevationModels.html. This data was uploaded in 2019. The average elevation for each UGS is calculated by the Zonal statistics tool in QGIS. (Unit: m)

#### Tree number

Zurich tree data was downloaded from https://data.stadt-zuerich.ch/dataset/geo\_baumkataster. The number of trees within each UGS was calculated by ArcGIS10.6.

#### Road density

Polyline shape files include the categories 'primary', 'secondary', 'tertiary', 'residential', 'service',

'motorway', 'trunk', 'living street', 'unclassified', as well as related 'link roads' are recognized as the main road. The road density of a UGS was calculated by dividing the total length of main roads within its 100m buffer zone by the area of its buffer zone. (Unit:  $m/m^2$ )

#### **Transportation stops**

Transportation node data is also obtained from OMS. It contains 731 bus stops and 411 tram stops. Transportation nodes within 100 meters beyond the UGSs polygon were included.

#### **Zurich population density**

Zurich population density dataset was downloaded from https://data.stadt-zuerich.ch/ dataset/ktzh\_raeumliche\_bevoelkerungsstatistik\_ogd\_. The dataset comprises spatial data with a resolution of 1 meter, providing information on population distribution, age structure, gender composition, and the proportion of foreign residents. (Unit:  $person/m^2$ )

Figure 6 and Table 2 show the general statistic description of each variable.



Figure 6: Histgram of spatial variables.

Type	Spatial variables	Max	Min	Mean	std.
	Area	34503.47785	20.85216002	1379.403618	2726.324234
	Vegetation cover- age	0.473698326	-0.183076554	0.252990539	0.149532243
Attributes	Distance to Zurich Lake	8046.232943	0	1587.608162	1884.513922
	Fountain number	4	0	0.305084746	0.594769392
	Length of cycleway and footpath	4886.224871	0	197.9553739	294.7311953
	Average elevation	667.8959079	395.9512665	422.0201261	33.78830257
	Tree number	278	0	6.504237288	16.49392273
Accessibility	Road density	0.045471298	0	0.013541257	0.008447744
v	Transportation stops	10	0	1.06779661	1.646540999
Surrounding environment	Population density	207.55	1.6666666667	99.56312373	37.03817946

Table 2: General statistic description of spatial variables.

#### 3.4 Method

#### 3.4.1 Data preprocessing

Figure 7 introduced the data preprocessing workflow. Firstly, I used spatial joins between 57611 UGSs and 99073 Flickr images, resulting in 10573 geo-tagged photos in 1820 UGSs. Then, a scene recognition model (Places365-ResNet18) was applied to filter outdoor images. Places365-ResNet18 model is downloaded from https://github.com/CSAILVision/places365 (Huai et al., 2022, Zhou et al., 2018). This resulted in a final dataset of 8697 outdoor images. This step is due to the presence of museums or concerts in certain parks, which has led to many indoor photos on SM platforms. Finally, these outdoor images and 1820 UGSs are spatially joined again, leading to 1622 UGSs and 8697 images left. As the proportions of various activities within each UGS are required in this study, UGSs with only one image are removed. As is shown in Figure 8 (a), 771 UGSs left after removing UGSs with less than two images. Then, to improve the data representativeness, I decided to only use the major part of the data according to the area of UGS. As Figure 8 (b) shows, UGS with an area less than 20  $m^2$  were removed. Finally, only 708 UGSs and 7614 Flickr images were left.

The distribution of left UGSs can be found in Figure 9. The area of each UGSs and image count within each UGSs by type are shown in Table 4 and Table 3. There are 461 Parks, 62 Sports fields, 52 Street green spaces and 133 Other green spaces. There are 5792 images in Parks, 921 in Sports fields, 214 in Street green space and 687 in Other green spaces. The Sports field had the highest average number of images at 14.8548 and the biggest mean area at 2667.6668  $m^2$ , while Street green

space had the lowest average number of images at 4.1154 and the smallest average area at 469.4194  $m^2$ .



Figure 7: Workflow for data preprocessing.



Figure 8: (a) Removing UGSs with less than two images, then 771 UGSs left. (b) Removing UGSs smaller than 20  $m^2$ , only 708 UGSs left.



Figure 9: Distribution of left UGSs after data preprocessing.

Table 3: Statistic description of the image count within each UGS by types.

Type of UGSs	count	mean	max	$\min$	total
Park	461	12.5640	528	2	5792
Sports fields	62	14.8548	277	2	921
Street green space	52	4.1154	15	2	214
Other green spaces	133	5.1654	37	2	687

Type of UGSs	$\operatorname{count}$	mean	max	$\min$	total
Park	461	1227.5619	34503.4779	20.9860	565906.0276
Sports fields	62	2767.6668	26129.1859	42.9475	171595.3411
Street green space	52	469.4194	2163.1578	27.6704	24409.8103
Other green spaces	133	1614.3352	19182.5518	20.8522	214706.5825

Table 4: Statistical description of the area of each UGS by type.

#### 3.4.2 Image classification

In this study, Google Cloud Vision was used to classify images. Computer vision (CV) is a rapidly advancing and intricate field of research that has experienced significant growth in recent decades. It encompasses the scientific and technological aspects of machines capable of capturing and analyzing images or videos, primarily extracting valuable information from processed visual data. Many CV algorithms and image recognition techniques have been developed in recent years, such as Google Cloud Vision, Microsoft Azure Computer Vision API, etc. (Mulfari et al., 2016). This study employed Google Cloud Vision, a machine learning algorithm designed for image analysis, to examine the elements present within the photographic images. Google Cloud Vision API is a cloud-based image analysis service provided by Google Cloud Platform. Introduced on December 2, 2015, Google Cloud Vision has experienced continuous growth and development. It allows for exploring labels, text, landmarks, logos, and attribute information of images based on large-scale image training of machine learning models (Lee and Son, 2023). In this study, image content interpretation was conducted using the "Label detection" function offered by the Google Cloud Vision API. This feature generates multiple labels along with their respective probabilities for an image. The service is underpinned by cutting-edge Deep Neural Network Machine Learning algorithms that rely on pre-trained models drawn from extensive libraries. In this study, Python code was developed to process all images by the Google Cloud Vision API platform requiring user authentication. Thus, several keywords were automatically generated to describe the content of the images (Zhou and Ushiama, 2020). Figure 10 shows a sample result of image recognition conducted by Google Cloud Vision API.

#### Try the API

Objects	Labels	Properties		Safe Search
		Plant		96%
and the second		Sky		95%
	A trans	Cloud		94%
	The	Tree		88%
		Natural Lands	cape	86%
4187067729	90.jpg			
Show JSON 🗸			<b>5</b> RESET	1 NEW FILE

Figure 10: An example of Google Cloud Vision API.

1485 unique keywords were generated from UGSs photographs. The 20 most frequently appearing keywords are shown in Figure 11



Figure 11: The most 20 frequent keywords.

#### 3.4.3 Hierarchical clustering analysis

This study used the Hierarchical clustering method provided by Song et al. (2020b) and can be downloaded from https://github.com/xp-song/photo-classify. This method categorizes the photographs into groups based on content types using keyword labels generated by Google Cloud Vision. The similarity between each pair of unique photos was computed by considering the number of shared keywords. This method eliminates the subjectivity often associated with manual classification and allows for categorising photographs into discrete groups using hierarchical clustering, even when there is overlapping content (Song et al., 2020b).

#### 3.4.4 Regression analysis

Generalized linear regression (GLM) models of the negative binomial family were used to examine the impacts of spatial variables on activity types in UGSs. When the conditional variance exceeds the mean value, it suggests an over-dispersion of the variable. Thus, it is proper to use negative binomial regression in this study, which is suitable for dealing with count variables exhibiting over-dispersion. Before building the GLM model, I used the procedures of Hosmer Jr et al. (2013) to reduce the input parameters shown in Table 1. Highly positively or negatively correlated (Pearson r > 0.5) parameters were eliminated to avoid multicollinearity. Then all predictor variables were scaled to 0-1.

To build regression models, I first developed regression models for different activity types. The response variable was the proportion of Flickr images related to a specific activity within each UGSs. Subsequently, I generated models for each particular activity within different UGSs categories. In these subsequent models, the response variable was the activity ratio within a specific UGS type.

# 4 Result

## 4.1 Image classification and activity clustering

After utilizing Google Cloud Vision and hierarchical clustering on 7614 Flickr photos, nine distinct types of images were identified (as shown in Figure 12).

#### Hierarchical clustering of photos into 9 categories



Figure 12: Nine categories of Flickr photographs and their label.

The group labels, the most frequently associated keywords and the number of photos in each group are listed in Table 5. For the convenience of discussion and comparison, these nine groups were merged into four main types of recreational activities.

Recreational activities	Group label	Number of photos	The most 10 frequent keywords and their frequency
Sports & Recreation	1	1786	{'event,': 838, 'sky,': 800, 'leisure,': 616, 'tree,': 545, 'recre- ation,': 533, 'shorts,': 404, 'cloud,': 332, 'plant,': 330, 'water,': 321, 'travel,': 320}
	9	300	{'ball,': 502, 'sports': 368, 'player,': 362, 'equipment,': 311, 'foot- ball,': 300, 'shorts,': 295, 'soccer,': 286, 'grass,': 239, 'soccer': 237, 'ball': 165}
Flora & Fauna	4	1735	{'plant,': 2164, 'tree,': 1406, 'grass,': 1170, 'landscape,': 1072, 'sky,': 956, 'leisure,': 637, 'natural': 621, 'road': 414, 'surface,': 414, 'recreation,': 400}
	8	190	{'bird,': 265, 'beak,': 204, 'water,': 151, 'feather,': 124, 'ducks,': 110, 'geese': 106, 'swans,': 105, 'waterfowl,': 99, 'lake,': 93, 'wing,': 79}
Water activity	3	512	{'water,': 628, 'boat,': 520, 'watercraft,': 506, 'sky,': 444, 'lake,': 444, 'vehicle,': 394, 'cloud,': 252, 'boats': 208, 'boating-equipment: 208, 'supplies,': 208}
	7	795	{'water,': 897, 'sky,': 810, 'landscape,': 684, 'cloud,': 610, 'lake,': 592, 'natural': 439, 'tree,': 377, 'plant,': 334, 'dusk,': 261, 'horizon,': 261}
Cityscape	2	1429	{'building,': 1576, 'sky,': 1415, 'city,': 985, 'window,': 857, 'tree,': 742, 'cloud,': 661, 'facade,': 600, 'urban': 590, 'water,': 589, 'plant,': 581}
	5	563	{'vehicle,': 865, 'bicycle': 567, 'tire,': 559, 'wheel,': 516, 'auto- motive': 453, 'motor': 294, 'sky,': 267, 'tree,': 238, 'car,': 229, 'plant,': 190}
	6	304	{'sculpture,': 401, 'art,': 311, 'statue,': 304, 'sky,': 205, 'tree,': 194, 'monument,': 177, 'plant,': 174, 'grass,': 120, 'cloud,': 95, 'leisure,': 77}

Table 5: Categorising nine groups of labels into four types of activity and the most frequent 10 keywords for each group.

Group 1 and Group 9 were combined and renamed as 'Sports & Recreation', Group 4 and Group 8 were merged and renamed as 'Flora & Fauna', Group 3 and Group 7 were combined and renamed as 'Water activity', and Group 2, Group 5, and Group 6 were merged and named as 'Cityscape'. As a result, there are four types of activities: 'Sports & Recreation', 'Flora & Fauna', 'Water activity', and 'Cityscape'. Figure 13 shows the number of photos contained in each activity. In the 'Sports & Recreation' activity, the most frequent keywords include 'event', 'sky', 'leisure', 'tree', 'recreation', 'shorts', 'cloud', 'plant', 'water', 'travel', 'ball', 'sports', 'player', 'equipment', 'football', 'shorts', 'soccer', 'grass', 'soccer', 'ball'. There are 2086 photos related to this activity, occupying almost 27 % of the total images. For the 'Flora & Fauna' activity, the most frequent keywords are 'plant', 'tree', 'grass', 'landscape', 'sky', 'leisure', 'natural', 'road', 'surface', 'recreation', 'bird', 'beak', 'water', 'feather', 'ducks', 'geese', 'swans' 'waterfowl', 'lake', 'wing'. It has 1925 relevant images, accounting for 25.2 % of the Flickr image dataset. For 'Water activity', keywords include 'water', 'boat', 'watercraft', 'sky', 'lake', 'vehicle', 'cloud', 'boats', 'boating-equipment', 'supplies',

'water', 'sky', 'landscape', 'cloud', 'lake', 'natural', 'tree', 'plant', 'dusk', 'horizon'. It has the least images, and 1307 water-related images occupy 17 % of the dataset. In the last activity, 'Cityscape', the most important keywords are 'building', 'sky', 'city', 'window', 'tree', 'cloud', 'facade', 'urban', 'water', 'plant', 'vehicle', 'bicycle', 'tire', 'wheel', 'automotive', 'motor', 'sky', 'tree', 'car', 'plant', 'sculpture', 'art', 'statue', 'sky', 'tree', 'monument', 'plant', 'grass', 'cloud', 'leisure'. It has the most relevant images at 2296, holding 30% of the whole image dataset (Figure 13).



Figure 13: Number of photos for each activity type.

Figure 14 displays the distribution of photos related to different types of activity. Most of the photos of "Water activities" were relatively centrally located around Lake Zurich, while the distribution of photos related to the other three types of activities was relatively decentralized.



Figure 14: Distribution of photos related to different activity types.

## 4.2 Comparison between the distribution of Flickr image and UGSs

From Figure 15, there were overlaps between regions of the greatest concentration of Flickr images and UGSs used in this study, such as areas around Zurich Lake and Old Town, the northeast corner of Zurich city, except the Zurich Zoo which is one of the most popular places among photographers. This is because the Zurich Area Management System (FMS), which provides the Zurich UGSs data, did not recognize zoos as a type of UGS. In addition to the Zoo, almost all the urban green spaces were located in eye-catching areas.



Figure 15: Distribution of UGSs after preprocessing and the density map of the whole Flickr image dataset before preprocessing.

#### 4.3 Relationship between activity types and UGSs types

As is shown in Figure 16, Parks had the most Flickr photos, meaning it is the most critical type of UGSs for people. Around 5792 photos were located in Parks, accounting for 76 % of the whole image dataset. 12.7% of photos are located in the Sports Fields. The proportions of photos in Street green space and Other green spaces (green areas in schools, private buildings, etc.) were 3 % and 9 %. In each UGS category, the distribution of activities varied, shaping the essence of these spaces. For example, in Parks, there was a relatively balanced ratio of activities: 22% was dedicated to 'Sports & Recreation', 20% to 'Water activity', 31% to 'Cityscape', and 26%

to 'Flora & Fauna'. 'Sports and Recreation' activity was dominant with regard to Sports fields, encompassing a significant 70 % share of the photographs in it. In contrast, the remaining activity types found their place with more modest proportions: 'Water activity' at 9%, 'Cityscape' at 8%, and 'Flora & Fauna' at 13%. Street green spaces presented an entirely different scenario. The visual narrative was predominantly captured by 'Cityscape', composing 56 % of all images. 'Flora & Fauna' claimed its significance as the second most prevalent activity, constituting 20% of the images. On the other hand, 'Water activity' was relatively infrequent, accounting for merely 6 % of the photographs, making it the least represented activity within street green spaces. In the realm of Other green spaces, the activity 'Cityscape' predominated again, constituting the largest share at 38 % in terms of captured images. 'Flora & Fauna' followed closely behind, encapsulating 34 % of the visual narratives. Meanwhile, 'Water activity' remained at the periphery, holding the smallest share with only 6% of photos.

These findings indicated the significance of types of UGSs in catering to various recreational activities. Park emerges as the most favoured choice for the surveyed activities, emphasizing their central role in providing recreational opportunities within urban environments. But other types of UGSs can still provide places for people to enjoy nature and recreation.



Figure 16: (a) Number of photographs associated with an activity type in each UGS category. (b) The proportion of photographs associated with an activity type in each UGS category

## 4.4 Influence of spatial variables on activity types

#### 4.4.1 All UGS types

After identifying four types of activity, the proportions of images related to a specific type of activity within each UGSs were measured. The general statistic description of these four dependent variables can be found in Figure 17. The average proportion of 'Flora & Fauna' photos stands at 35%, 'Water activity' images average at 16%, 'Sports & Recreation' images come in at an average of 18%, and 'Cityscape' images have an average representation of 31%.



Figure 17: General statistic description of four dependent variables (Dependent variables were measured by the proportions of images related to a specific type of activity within each UGS).

Factors influencing various activities at all types of UGSs are shown in Table 6. The spatial variable significantly associated with all activity was road density. It had a negative relationship with the proportion of activities 'Flora & Fauna' and 'Water activity', but had a positive relationship with that of 'Sports & Recreation' and 'Cityscape'. UGSs with smaller sizes usually had more images related to 'Water activity' and 'Cityscape' and fewer images related to 'Sports & Recreation'. UGSs closer to Zurich Lake usually had more 'Water activity' and 'Sports & Recreation' images and fewer 'Cityscape' photos. The average elevation was significantly negatively related to the proportion of 'Water activity' and 'Sports & Recreation' but was significantly positively associated with that of 'Flora & Fauna'. In neighbourhoods, UGSs with higher population density often had more 'Flora & Fauna' pictures and fewer 'Water activity' and 'Cityscape' images. Additionally, higher vegetation coverage had a positive relationship with photos of 'Flora & Fauna', while it had a negative correlation with the presence of 'Cityscape'. Fewer transportation stops in nearby areas were correlated with fewer photos of 'Water activity' within UGSs.

Types of activity	Flora &Fauna	Water activity	Sports & Recreation	Cityscape
$R^2$	0.08504	0.319	0.07463	0.1065
Area	0.6219	-3.3583**	2.3135**	-1.5323**
Vegetation coverage	0.8173**	-0.2606	-0.1641	-0.4979**
Distance to Zurich Lake	0.1467	$-0.5172^{**}$	-0.4502*	$0.6562^{**}$
Fountain number	0.1015	0.1252	-0.4669	0.1114
Length of cycleway and footpath	0.9278	0.7812	-0.5324	0.1877
Average elevation	$0.7554^{*}$	-1.5784**	-1.0139**	0.1758
Tree number	-0.6252	-0.1763	-0.2671	0.7535
Road density	-0.5948*	-2.1902**	$1.0009^{**}$	$1.089^{**}$
Transportation stops	-0.4075	-0.7999**	-0.1737	0.398
Population density	1.0808**	-1.6271**	0.215	-0.6689**

Table 6: Relationships between spatial variables and various activities in the whole UGSs.  $(N\_sample = 708)$ 

\* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01

#### 4.4.2 Variables influencing activities at different UGS types

The relationships between spatial variables and specific activities within the different categories of UGS were shown in Table 7. The spatial variables associated with a higher ratio of 'Flora & Fauna' photos across all UGS categories was higher vegetation coverage. Another influential factor was population density, which showed a negative relationship with the presence of 'Flora & Fauna' at Sports fields and a positive correlation with that at Park and Other green spaces. Other green spaces at higher elevations and less transportation nodes had more 'Flora & Fauna' photos, while Sports fields at lower elevations and Street green space with more transportation nodes had more 'Flora & Fauna' photos.

For the 'Water activity', all types of UGSs with fewer people living in the neighbourhood were associated with a higher ratio of photos related to it. Park and Sports fields closer to Zurich Lake had more images associated with 'Water activity', while the reverse was found in Street green spaces and Other green spaces. The size of UGS and road density was significantly negatively related to the presence of 'Water activity' photos at Park, Sports fields and Other green spaces. Average elevation had a negative correlation with the proportion of 'Water activity' pictures at Park, Street green space and Other green spaces. Sports fields with more fountains had a higher ratio of pictures related to 'Water Activity', while the situation was reversed for Street green space and Park.

As for the 'Sports & Recreation' activity, Sports fields and Street green spaces at higher eleva-

tions tended to have more relevant images. Conversely, Park and Other areas at lower elevations exhibited a higher prevalence of relevant photos. Sports fields with bigger sizes and short lengths of cycleways and footpaths were associated with the presence of 'Sports & Recreation' pictures. However, bigger sizes were related to fewer 'Sports & Recreation' images in Street green space and Other green spaces. Shorter lengths of cycleways and footpaths were correlated with fewer pictures related to it in Park and Street green space. Road density and population density had a positive relationship with the presence of 'Sports & Recreation' photos.

Finally, Sports fields with more people living around had more 'Cityscape' images. By contrast, Park and Other green spaces located in neighbourhoods with lower population density were associated with a lower proportion of photos related to 'Cityscape'. Additionally, smaller sizes and greater distances from Zurich Lake were spatial factors associated with a higher occurrence of 'Cityscape' imagery in both Park and Sports fields. Table 7: Relationships between spatial variables and various activities in different UGS types (N\_parks=461, N\_sports fields=62, N\_street green spaces=52, N\_other green spaces=133)

Types of activity	Types of UGS	$R^{2}$	Area	Vegeta -tion coverage	Distance to Zurich Lake	<sup>2</sup> Fountain num- ber	Length of t cycle- way and foot- path	Average eleva- tion	Tree num- ber	Road den- sity	Transpol -tation stops	Population den- sity
, i	$\operatorname{Park}$	0.0793	1.0699	$0.6326^{**}$	* 0.2456	0.0764	0.8356	0.3058	- 0.9084	-0.5864	0.0826	$1.3162^{**}$
Flora& Fauna	Sports fields	0.3752	$-2.7569^{**}$	$2.5489^{**}$	* 1.2342*	-1.0034	4.3051	- 6.6887**	3.4511	$2.3623^{*}$	1.9952	$^{-}$ 2.2416*
	space Other	0.6652	32.7861	$6.4262^{**}$	* <sup>-</sup> 1.9052	$3.0051^{*}$	$26.6541^{*}$	$\frac{*}{0.3234}$	-18.1725*	. <sub>₹</sub> 0.584	$1.3959^{*}$	0.6286
	Ouner green spaces	0.265	2.696	$0.918^{*}$	0.5252	-0.4089	0.377	$2.2926^{**}$	-0.3268	-0.0621	$\frac{-}{3.4326^{**}}$	$2.2154^{**}$
W/oton	$\operatorname{Park}$	0.227	$-2.7914^{**}$	- * 0.0942	$-0.7345^{*}$	-1.0372**	-0.6282	-1.3059*	-0.1499	-0.8741**	- 0.3089	$-1.2516^{**}$
water activity	Sports fields	0.7874	- $7.3457^{**}$	- * 1.3438	$-3.0477^{**}$	, 2.1324*	1.9889	- 0.3755	9.2561	$-2.6907^{**}$	- 8.6167**	$-5.1252^{**}$
	Street green	0.8642	11.9545	$6.4968^{**}$	* 2.3512*	- $6.9134^{**}$	-11.9222	-10.1269*	- *21.7643*	- : 0.4909	1.7416	$-5.5152^{**}$
	space Other green spaces	0.5535	- 5.3985**	- * 2.3154**	* 2.5805**	0.2775	$2.9421^{*}$	$-6.2051^{**}$	1.7993	- 2.8285**	0.4843	- 3.8055**
-	$\operatorname{Park}$	0.1072	0.7016	- 0.3547	-0.4571	-0.6528	$2.7118^{*}$	$-2.2639^{**}$	-0.1003	$1.4765^{**}$	-0.4622	-0.304
sports & Recreation	Sports fields	0.4174	$5.9363^{**}$	* <sup>-</sup> 1.3933*	0.0972	1.4487	- 7.7565*	$5.2951^{**}$	-1.2615	- 0.3173	0.8478	$3.7242^{**}$
	ourceu green space	0.7081	$-58.0421^{*}$	- **1.5736	- 9.1523**	, 2.6217*	$22.7357^{*}$	$5.0426^{**}$	$15.3083^{*}$	*2.1502*	- 0.6415	$5.254^{**}$
	Other green spaces	0.202	$-3.624^{*}$	- 0.0773	-1.0857*	0.4944	-0.4307	$-1.8909^{**}$	1.8109	0.5482	$2.0488^{**}$	0.1414
	$\operatorname{Park}$	0.1196	$-1.9039^{*}$	-0.0015	$1.5573^{**}$	0.5298	1.1109	-0.0582	0.6983	$0.9614^{**}$	-0.0827	$-1.3444^{**}$
Cityscape	Sports fields	0.4937	- 7.6657**	$^{-}$ * 1.3895*	$1.4041^{**}$	-1.409	0.8265	- 7.8573**	$22.8832^{*}$	* <b>1</b> .9382	$3.0273^{**}$	$2.1^{*}$
	Street green space	0.2289	- 15.6684	$-1.8914^{**}$	- * 0.1282	-0.238	- 8.0386	0.9214	-4.2563	-0.5055	0.273	0.0557
	Other green spaces	0.1382	0.1767	-0.91*	0.2091	- 0.6648	0.3095	- 0.9339	-3.0265	0.8246	0.9863	- $1.2262^{*}$
p < 0.05, *	p < 0.01											

# 5 Discussion

This study used geo-tagged Flickr photos to investigate people's activities within UGSs and assess how different spatial variables influenced these activities. Additionally, it explored the relationships between spatial variables and activities across four distinct UGS categories. By using automated image identification and hierarchical clustering, four activities were identified within Zurich UGSs: 'Flora & Fauna', 'Water activity', 'Sports & Recreation' and 'Cityscape'. Results indicated that all four activities were nearly equally popular in Park. 'Sports & Recreation' took precedence in Sports fields, while 'Cityscape' emerged as the most favoured activity in Street green space and Other green spaces. Notably, 'Water activity' was the least prevalent activity across Sports fields, Street green space, and Other green spaces. Regression models showed that road density significantly positively correlated with the popularity of 'Sports & Recreation' and 'Cityscape' activity but negatively related to that of 'Flora & Fauna' and 'Water activity'. Other important variables, including the size of the UGS, distance from Lake Zurich, average elevation, and population density, affected the partial activity differently.

#### 5.1 Activities in UGSs

In this study, four main activities were identified, which were 'Sports & Recreation', 'Flora & Fauna', 'Water activity', and 'Cityscape'. All four activities are popular in the Park. Previous studies that explored human activities at UGSs have also mainly focused on parks. For example, Song et al. (2020a) analyzed photos from Flickr and Instagram in Singapore urban parks and categorized them into six types: birds, wildlife, plants, flowers, recreation, and water/skyscapes. Using geo-tagged social media photos and computer vision method, Huai et al. (2022) identified ten landscape feature categories, corresponding to 4 CES categories in urban parks of Brussels. Urban parks are essential places for various outdoor recreation in cities. Therefore, it is reasonable that people can enjoy all four activities in Parks. Regarding Sports fields, there is no doubt that 'Sports & Recreation' is the most common activity as it provides most sports facilities. In the case of Street green space, it is usually along the street or road and is generally smaller in size. As a result, photographs taken within its setting are typically associated with artificial features, often characterized as 'Cityscape'. As for the 'Water activity', it was the least common activity in all UGSs types except for the Park. It may be because the waterbody was not a typical natural

landscape in urban areas, and the main waterbody in the study area is Zurich Lake, located in the central part of Zurich and is mainly surrounded by parks.

#### 5.2 Important spatial variables affecting activities in UGSs

This study revealed that a lower road density in the surrounding neighbourhood corresponded to a reduced number of images associated with 'Flora & Fauna' and 'Water activity' but more 'Sports & Recreation' and 'Cityscape' photos. This finding is consistent with Song et al. (2020a), whose study also demonstrated that an increased road density correlated with a lower number of photographs depicting flora and water features. This may be due to the fact that built-up areas are less appropriate for nature photography and more for artificial landscapes and people-oriented activities. But in Sports fields, road density was positively correlated with the occurrence of 'Flora & Fauna'. This may be explained by the fact that most areas within the playing fields are artificially constructed, and plants are usually distributed as landscaping along the nearby roads.

This study also found meaningful associations between UGS size and the number of Flickr images. Hamstead et al. (2018) demonstrated that the size of parks in New York City was positively associated with the frequency of social media posts, including those on platforms like Twitter and Flickr. In a study of Wuhan, Lyu and Zhang (2019) employed a dual dataset approach, incorporating Baidu heat maps and Weibo check-in data, to analyse the park use. Their research highlighted a significant correlation between park size and the level of park utilization, underscoring the influence of park sizes on park popularity. Zhang and Zhou (2018) also substantiated this trend, investigating the volume of check-ins on the Weibo platform, specifically within parks located in Beijing. However, this trend was not found by Song et al. (2020a) in their study conducted in Singapore, as well as by Donahue et al. (2018) in their investigation carried out in the USA. The outcomes of household surveys performed by Schipperijn et al. (2010) revealed that the frequency of visits to larger parks increased significantly only when these parks were situated near residents' residences. This study found that as the UGSs size increased, there was a rise in the number of 'Sports & Recreation' images but a decline in the amount of 'Water Activity' and 'Cityscape' images. This may be because of the need for a particular size area for sports activities and the holding of events. Artificial features are more common in small UGSs, typically the street green space. Additionally, in smaller UGSs, water features are usually relatively more prominent because they may be more visible in a limited space. This makes it easier for people to notice water features and photograph them.

In this study, I also found that UGSs closer to Zurich Lake were associated with a higher proportion of photos related to 'Water activity' and 'Sports & Recreation' but a lower ratio of 'Cityscape' images. It suggests that the water feature is essential in Zurich to enjoy UGSs. By analyzing 1622 questionnaires, Kienast et al. (2012) indicated that waterbodies correlate with higher use in the neighbourhood green spaces in cities and towns in Switzerland. Song et al. (2020a) also found that the length of waterfronts and the distance to the coast were associated with water or sky recreation in parks. These associations may be linked to inherent human preferences for water and vast landscapes, topics that have been explored in the fields of evolutionary and environmental psychology Hartmann and Apaolaza-Ibáñez (2010). For instance, individuals often gravitate towards water-rich environments for leisure, as these waterscapes have positively impacted people's emotional well-being (Meert et al., 2014). UGSs that are further away from the lake are usually located in busy parts of the city and may be surrounded by more buildings and roads, making them more suitable for scenes related to city life. However, the distance to Zurich Lake was significantly positively associated with 'Water activity' images in Street green space and Other green spaces.

Results also showed that elevation had a positive relationship with the occurrence of 'Flora & Fauna' images but a reversed relationship with that of 'Water activity' and 'Sports & recreation' photos. As is known, plants and animals are common on hills where the average elevation is higher, while lakes are in low-lying areas. For humans, the city's built-up areas are usually centred on gentle, low-lying terrain.

Population density also has impacts on activities within UGSs. Lyu and Zhang (2019) indicated that population density negatively impacted park use in Wuhan. Zhang and Zhou (2018) also found a similar trend in the usage of Beijing Parks. The primary factor is the high quality of accessibility of transportation in Wuhan, which encourages people to visit parks located at a certain distance from their homes. Residents thus may not necessarily utilize or appreciate the parks in close proximity to their residences. As a result, living in the immediate vicinity of urban parks is not necessarily a determining factor. This city-wide study revealed that a higher population density in the surrounding neighbourhoods was associated with a decrease in the prevalence of 'Water activity' and 'Cityscape' images while concurrently witnessing an increase in the frequency of 'Flora & Fauna' photographs. One possible explanation is that 'Water activity' and 'Cityscape' photographs are usually taken in parks or UGSs in commercial districts, where population densities are generally low. While in densely populated residential areas, people may be more likely to enjoy nature provided by small gardens, greenbelts, etc.

Vegetation coverage was significantly positively correlated with the occurrence of 'Flora & Fauna' photos but negatively correlated with that of 'Cityscape' photos. This suggests that natural landscapes play an essential role in the photographs shared by park visitors, especially in capturing plants and wildlife. In contrast, in well-built areas where natural landscapes have almost disappeared, people can almost only enjoy city life.

#### 5.3 Implications

This study used SM data to investigate people's activities at UGSs and the impacts of different spatial variables on these activities. Recognizing that local governments frequently confront resource limitations in conducting extensive surveys, social media could provide supplementary data or alternative methods for consistently measuring park use patterns. Results revealed the mix of activities within different categories of UGSs. It shows people's actions in less common urban green spaces, such as playing fields and street green spaces. As urban populations continue to expand, the importance of providing access to well-maintained city parks and other public spaces becomes increasingly evident. The results imply that urban planners should also take into account the significance of urban green space systems beyond just traditional parks.

The regression models showed that road density was positively related to the occurrence of 'Sports & recreation' and 'Cityscape' photos but negatively related to that of 'Flora & Fauna' and 'Water activity' photos. Accordingly, when the public is more keen to enjoy nature, urban planners need to consider reducing the accessibility of UGSs. However, the situation is reversed when the public is more inclined to enjoy urban life. Given the inherent trade-offs in accommodating various needs, conducting a neighbourhood-specific analysis like this can offer more detailed insights into the factors that should be taken into account during UGSs planning. Notably, critical spatial variables, including UGSs size, vegetation coverage, distance to Zurich Lake, elevation and population density, were also found to have significant impacts on the use of UGSs. These discoveries enhance our comprehension of variations in UGSs usage within Zurich City.

#### 5.4 Limitations

This research paper employed geotagged Flickr images to understand the activities at UGSs, with Zurich as the focus of the study. Unlike conventional surveys, which demand considerable time and effort, this approach is more time-efficient and provides broader spatial coverage. Nevertheless, it is essential to acknowledge that this method has limitations. For instance, individuals visiting cultural relic parks and expansive urban parks may have a higher propensity to share photos, while this tendency might be lower at sports fields. This potential variation among UGSs can introduce uncertainty when analyzing the impacts of influencing factors. Therefore, there are inherent biases within geotagged Flickr images. Spatial bias in geo-located data is a big issue. The size of social media content is likely to be highly biased toward popular tourism destinations. For instance, numerous studies have pointed out that overactive users with too many uploads and overconcentration on famous sites also lead to problems in social media data (Gupta et al., 2020). The mismatches between user tags and the image content are another issue. Social media data is selfpublished by users. While the photographer's position may usually be relatively close to the photo's subject, especially in a UGS, it has been found that the locations of social media photographs can be influenced by users' preferences (Cui et al., 2021). Some individuals have a tendency to geotag photos with the location of the subject in the photo, such as a renowned building, rather than the photographer's own position (Song and Zhang, 2020). In addition, after evaluating the users of six platforms in Great Britain by questionnaire, Blank and Lutz (2017) found that Twitter users tend to have a younger age profile and higher levels of education. Compared to older visitors, young visitors to parks are more willing to post their natural experiences online (Heikinheimo et al., 2017). Women are likelier to share their experiences on social media than men (Hausmann et al., 2017). The representativeness of social media data, thus, is a big problem as it cannot represent all demographic groups. Therefore, social media data contains inherent bias and only partially reflects the opinions and behaviours of people in the real world. The reliability and usefulness of the Flickr image data should be further validated when UGSs authorities publicly disclose visitor statistics in the future.

Several other spatial variables influencing the utilization of UGSs have not been factored into this analysis. These include individual socioeconomic indicators like income, occupation, education, age and gender, previously identified in the introduction as potential determinants of park visitation. Moreover, psychological factors like interest levels and safety perceptions are also known to influence park usage. The spatial distribution of these characteristics among SM users could potentially explain variations in park visitation patterns, but quantifying them geospatially currently presents a considerable challenge. Regrettably, gathering sociodemographic data from SM users, unlike traditional visitor surveys, proved unattainable, thus constraining a more thorough investigation into the connection between park visitation and user-related factors.

# 6 Conclusion

This study applied Flickr photos to examine peoples' activities at Zurich UGSs. Google Cloud Vision API and hierarchical clustering were used to identify activity types at UGSs according to the contents of Flirck images. Then, GML models were employed to analyse the impacts of spatial variables on various activity types. Further, relationships between variables and activities at different UGSs categories were analysed. The outcomes of our study have shed light on the factors driving the preferences of different activity types at UGSs in Zurich, enhancing our comprehension of UGSs use. These findings have substantial importance for the planning and administration of UGSs.

Four activities were recognized according to the content of geo-tagged images: 'Flora& Fauna', 'Water activity', 'Sports & Recreation' and 'Cityscape'. This city-wide analysis of social media photographs at UGSs across Zurich has shown the variations of activity preferences in different types of UGSs. The study results also indicated that road density, UGS size, vegetation coverage, average elevation, and population density are essential factors in determining the popularity of various activities within the UGSs. Considering the type of activity and UGSs, one factor may have very different impacts on the popularity of an activity. Consequently, urban planners should apply diverse criteria to meet varying needs.

# References

- A. Abu Hammad and A. Tumeizi. Land degradation: socioeconomic and environmental causes and consequences in the eastern mediterranean. Land Degradation Development, 23:216–226, 12 2010. doi: 10.1002/ldr.1069.
- Shlomo Angel, Jason Parent, Daniel L. Civco, Alexander Blei, and David Potere. The dimensions of global urban expansion: Estimates and projections for all countries, 2000-2050. Progress in Planning, 75(2):53-107, 2011. ISSN 0305-9006. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progress.2011.04. 001. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305900611000109. The dimensions of global urban expansion: Estimates and projections for all countries, 2000-2050.
- Ted R. Angradi, Jonathon J. Launspach, and Rick Debbout. Determining preferences for ecosystem benefits in great lakes areas of concern from photographs posted to social media. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 44(2):340–351, 2018. ISSN 0380-1330. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2017. 12.007. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0380133017302034.
- Arne Arnberger and Renate Eder. Are urban visitors' general preferences for green-spaces similar to their preferences when seeking stress relief? Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 14(4):872-882, 2015. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2015.07.005. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1618866715000989.
- Carolina Barros, Borja Moya-Gómez, and Javier Gutiérrez. Using geotagged photographs and gps tracks from social networks to analyse visitor behaviour in national parks. Current Issues in Tourism, 23(10):1291–1310, 2019. doi: 10.1080/13683500.2019.1619674.
- Grant Blank and Christoph Lutz. Representativeness of social media in great britain: Investigating facebook, linkedin, twitter, pinterest, google+, and instagram. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 61(7):741–756, 2017. doi: 10.1177/0002764217717559.
- Toby N. Carlson and David A. Ripley. On the relation between ndvi, fractional vegetation cover, and leaf area index. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 62(3):241-252, 1997. ISSN 0034-4257. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(97)00104-1. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0034425797001041.
- Yiyong Chen, Xiaoping Liu, Wenxiu Gao, Raymond Yu Wang, Yun Li, and Wei Tu. Emerging social media data on measuring urban park use. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 31:130-141, 2018. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.02.005. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1618866717306787.
- Emma Coombes, Andrew P. Jones, and Melvyn Hillsdon. The relationship of physical activity and overweight to objectively measured green space accessibility and use. Social Science Medicine, 70 (6):816-822, 2010. ISSN 0277-9536. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.11.020. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953609008156.
- Nan Cui, Nick Malleson, Victoria Houlden, and Alexis Comber. Using vgi and social media data to understand urban green space: A narrative literature review. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 10:425, 06 2021. doi: 10.3390/ijgi10070425.

- Nan Cui, Nick Malleson, Victoria Houlden, and Alexis Comber. Using social media data to understand the impact of the covid-19 pandemic on urban green space use. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 74:127677, 2022. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2022.127677. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1618866722002205.
- Martin Dallimer, Zoe G. Davies, Katherine N. Irvine, Lorraine Maltby, Philip H. Warren, Kevin J. Gaston, and Paul R. Armsworth. What personal and environmental factors determine frequency of urban greenspace use? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 11 (8):7977–7992, 2014. ISSN 1660-4601. doi: 10.3390/ijerph110807977. URL https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/11/8/7977.
- Matthew Dennis and Philip James. Evaluating the relative influence on population health of domestic gardens and green space along a rural-urban gradient. Landscape and Urban Planning, 157:343–351, 01 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.08.009.
- Yaella Depietri, Andrea Ghermandi, Salvatore Campisi-Pinto, and Daniel E. Orenstein. Public participation gis versus geolocated social media data to assess urban cultural ecosystem services: Instances of complementarity. *Ecosystem Services*, 50:101277, 2021. ISSN 2212-0416. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2021.101277. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212041621000358.
- Marie L. Donahue, Bonnie L. Keeler, Spencer A. Wood, David M. Fisher, Zoé A. Hamstead, and Timon McPhearson. Using social media to understand drivers of urban park visitation in the twin cities, mn. Landscape and Urban Planning, 175:1–10, 2018. ISSN 0169-2046. doi: https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.02.006. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0169204618300550.
- Nathan Fox, Tom August, Francesca Mancini, Katherine E. Parks, Felix Eigenbrod, James M. Bullock, Louis Sutter, and Laura J. Graham. "photosearcher" package in r: An accessible and reproducible method for harvesting large datasets from flickr. SoftwareX, 12:100624, 2020. ISSN 2352-7110. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.softx.2020.100624. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S235271102030337X.
- Víctor García-Díez, Marina García-Llorente, and José A. González. Participatory mapping of cultural ecosystem services in madrid: Insights for landscape planning. Land, 9(8), 2020. ISSN 2073-445X. doi: 10.3390/land9080244. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2073-445X/9/8/244.
- Andrea Ghermandi. Geolocated social media data counts as a proxy for recreational visits in natural areas: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 317:115325, 2022. ISSN 0301-4797. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.115325. URL https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0301479722008982.
- Rüdiger Grote, Roeland Samson, Rocío Alonso, Jorge Humberto Amorim, Paloma Cariñanos, Galina Churkina, Silvano Fares, Didier Le Thiec, Ülo Niinemets, Teis Norgaard Mikkelsen, et al. Functional traits of urban trees: air pollution mitigation potential. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 14(10):543–550, 2016.
- Tomasz Grzyb, Sylwia Kulczyk, Marta Derek, and Edyta Woźniak. Using social media to assess recreation across urban green spaces in times of abrupt change. *Ecosystem Services*, 49:101297,

2021. ISSN 2212-0416. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2021.101297. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212041621000553.

- Zhihui Gu, Yan Zhang, Yu Chen, and Xiaomeng Chang. Analysis of attraction features of tourism destinations in a mega-city based on check-in data mining—a case study of shenzhen, china. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 5(11), 2016. ISSN 2220-9964. doi: 10.3390/ ijgi5110210. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2220-9964/5/11/210.
- Vibhuti Gupta, Kwang Hee Jung, and Seungchul Yoo. Exploring the power of multimodal features for predicting the popularity of social media image in a tourist destination. *Multimodal Technologies and Interaction*, page 64, September 2020. ISSN 2414-4088.
- Zoé A. Hamstead, David Fisher, Rositsa T. Ilieva, Spencer A. Wood, Timon McPhearson, and Peleg Kremer. Geolocated social media as a rapid indicator of park visitation and equitable park access. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 72:38–50, 2018. ISSN 0198-9715. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2018.01.007. URL https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0198971517303538.
- Helena I. Hanson, Emma Eckberg, Malin Widenberg, and Johanna Alkan Olsson. Gardens' contribution to people and urban green space. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 63:127198, 08 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127198.
- Patrick Hartmann and Vanessa Apaolaza-Ibáñez. Beyond savanna: An evolutionary and environmental psychology approach to behavioral effects of nature scenery in green advertising. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 30(1):119–128, 2010. ISSN 0272-4944. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2009.10.001. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0272494409000759.
- Samiul Hasan and Satish V. Ukkusuri. Urban activity pattern classification using topic models from online geo-location data. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 44:363– 381, 2014. ISSN 0968-090X. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2014.04.003. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0968090X14000928.
- Samiul Hasan, Xianyuan Zhan, and Satish V. Ukkusuri. Understanding urban human activity and mobility patterns using large-scale location-based data from online social media. In *Proceedings* of the 2nd ACM SIGKDD International Workshop on Urban Computing, UrbComp '13, New York, NY, USA, 2013. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9781450323314. doi: 10. 1145/2505821.2505823. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/2505821.2505823.
- Anna Hausmann, Tuuli Toivonen, Rob Slotow, Henrikki Tenkanen, Atte Moilanen, Vuokko Heikinheimo, and Enrico Di Minin. Social media data can be used to understand tourists' preferences for nature-based experiences in protected areas. *Conservation Letters*, 11:e12343, 02 2017. doi: 10.1111/conl.12343.
- Vuokko Heikinheimo, Enrico Di Minin, Henrikki Tenkanen, Anna Hausmann, Joel Erkkonen, and Tuuli Toivonen. User-generated geographic information for visitor monitoring in a national park: A comparison of social media data and visitor survey. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 6(3), 2017. ISSN 2220-9964. doi: 10.3390/ijgi6030085. URL https://www.mdpi. com/2220-9964/6/3/85.

- Vuokko Heikinheimo, Henrikki Tenkanen, Claudia Bergroth, Olle Järv, Tuomo Hiippala, and Tuuli Toivonen. Understanding the use of urban green spaces from user-generated geographic information. Landscape and Urban Planning, 201:103845, 2020. ISSN 0169-2046. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2020.103845. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0169204619313635.
- David W Hosmer Jr, Stanley Lemeshow, and Rodney X Sturdivant. Applied logistic regression, volume 398. John Wiley & Sons, 2013.
- Rupert Lloyd Hough. Biodiversity and human health: evidence for causality? *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 23:267–288, 12 2013. doi: 10.1007/s10531-013-0614-1.
- Wanda H Howell, Donald J McNamara, Mark A Tosca, Bruce W Smith, and John A Gaines. Plasma lipid and lipoprotein responses to dietary fat and cholesterol: a meta-analysis. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 65:1747–1764, 06 1997. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/65.6.1747.
- Songyao Huai, Fen Chen, Song Liu, Frank Canters, and Tim Van de Voorde. Using social media photos and computer vision to assess cultural ecosystem services and landscape features in urban parks. *Ecosystem Services*, 57:101475, 2022. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2022.101475. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212041622000717.
- Ruihong Huang. Analyzing national parks visitor activities using geotagged social media photos. Journal of Environmental Management, 330:117191, 2023. ISSN 0301-4797. doi: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.117191. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0301479722027645.
- Carolina Mayen Huerta and Ariane Utomo. Evaluating the association between urban green spaces and subjective well-being in mexico city during the covid-19 pandemic. *Health Place*, 70:102606, 2021. ISSN 1353-8292. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2021.102606. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353829221001027.
- Peter James, Rachel F. Banay, Jaime E. Hart, and Francine Laden. A review of the health benefits of greenness. *Current Epidemiology Reports*, 2:131–142, 04 2015. doi: 10.1007/s40471-015-0043-7.
- Nadja Kabisch, Roland Kraemer, Oskar Masztalerz, Jan Hemmerling, Catharina Püffel, and Dagmar Haase. Impact of summer heat on urban park visitation, perceived health and ecosystem service appreciation. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 60:127058, 2021. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127058. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S1618866721000832.
- Bonnie L. Keeler, Perrine Hamel, Timon McPhearson, Maike H. Hamann, Marie L. Donahue, Kelly A. Meza Prado, Katie K. Arkema, Gregory N. Bratman, Kate A. Brauman, Jacques C. Finlay, Anne D. Guerry, Sarah E. Hobbie, Justin A. Johnson, Graham K. MacDonald, Robert I. McDonald, Nick Neverisky, and Spencer A. Wood. Social-ecological and technological factors moderate the value of urban nature. *Nature Sustainability*, 2:29–38, 01 2019. doi: 10.1038/ s41893-018-0202-1. URL https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-018-0202-1.
- Lucy Keniger, Kevin Gaston, Katherine Irvine, and Richard Fuller. What are the benefits of interacting with nature? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10:913-935, 03 2013. doi: 10.3390/ijerph10030913. URL https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/10/3/913/htm.

- Felix Kienast, Barbara Degenhardt, Barbara Weilenmann, Yvonne Wäger, and Matthias Buchecker. Gis-assisted mapping of landscape suitability for nearby recreation. Landscape and Urban Planning, 105(4):385-399, 2012. ISSN 0169-2046. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2012. 01.015. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S016920461200031X.
- Caglar Koylu, Chang Zhao, and Wei Shao. Deep neural networks and kernel density estimation for detecting human activity patterns from geo-tagged images: A case study of birdwatching on flickr. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 8(1), 2019. ISSN 2220-9964. doi: 10.3390/ijgi8010045. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2220-9964/8/1/45.
- Sunghee Lee and Yonghoon Son. Mapping of user-perceived landscape types and spatial distribution using crowdsourced photo data and machine learning: Focusing on taeanhaean national park. Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism, page 100616, 2023. ISSN 2213-0780. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2023.100616. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2213078023000117.
- Huilin Liang and Qingping Zhang. Temporal and spatial assessment of urban park visits from multiple social media data sets: A case study of shanghai, china. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 297:126682, 2021. ISSN 0959-6526. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126682. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652621009021.
- Feinan Lyu and Li Zhang. Using multi-source big data to understand the factors affecting urban park use in wuhan. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 43:126367, 2019. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2019.126367. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S1618866719300871.
- George MacKerron and Susana Mourato. Happiness is greater in natural environments. *Global Environmental Change*, 23:992–1000, 10 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.03.010.
- Pablo Martí, Leticia Serrano-Estrada, and Almudena Nolasco-Cirugeda. Social media data: Challenges, opportunities and limitations in urban studies. Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 74:161–174, 2019. ISSN 0198-9715. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2018.11. 001. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0198971518302333.
- Katrien Meert, Mario Pandelaere, and Vanessa M. Patrick. Taking a shine to it: How the preference for glossy stems from an innate need for water. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 24:195–206, 04 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2013.12.005.
- Andrew Mondschein, David A. King, Christopher Hoehne, Zhiqiu Jiang, and Mikhail Chester. Using social media to evaluate associations between parking supply and parking sentiment. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 4:100085, 2020. ISSN 2590-1982. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2019.100085. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S2590198219300843.
- Mahua Mukherjee and Kaoru Takara. Urban green space as a countermeasure to increasing urban risk and the ugs-3cc resilience framework. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 28: 854–861, 2018.
- Davide Mulfari, Antonio Celesti, Maria Fazio, Massimo Villari, and Antonio Puliafito. Using google cloud vision in assistive technology scenarios. In 2016 IEEE Symposium on Computers and Communication (ISCC), pages 214–219, 2016. doi: 10.1109/ISCC.2016.7543742.

- Pascal Neis and Alexander Zipf. Analyzing the contributor activity of a volunteered geographic information project — the case of openstreetmap. ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information, 1(2):146-165, 2012. ISSN 2220-9964. doi: 10.3390/ijgi1020146. URL https: //www.mdpi.com/2220-9964/1/2/146.
- Marjo Neuvonen, Tuija Sievänen, Susan Tönnes, and Terhi Koskela. Access to green areas and the frequency of visits – a case study in helsinki. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 6(4):235–247, 2007. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2007.05.003. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1618866707000350.
- Patrick Norman and Catherine Marina Pickering. Factors influencing park popularity for mountain bikers, walkers and runners as indicated by social media route data. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 249:109413, 2019. ISSN 0301-4797. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019. 109413. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301479719311314.
- David J Nowak, Satoshi Hirabayashi, Marlene Doyle, Mark McGovern, and Jon Pasher. Air pollution removal by urban forests in canada and its effect on air quality and human health. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 29:40–48, 2018.
- Elisa Oteros-Rozas, Berta Martín-López, Nora Fagerholm, Claudia Bieling, and Tobias Plieninger. Using social media photos to explore the relation between cultural ecosystem services and landscape features across five european sites. *Ecological Indicators*, 94:74-86, 2018. ISSN 1470-160X. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.02.009. URL https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S1470160X17300572. Landscape Indicators - Monitoring of Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services at Landscape Level.
- Jessie Pinchoff, Carrie W. Mills, and Deborah Balk. Urbanization and health: The effects of the built environment on chronic disease risk factors among women in tanzania. *PLOS ONE*, 15: 1-16, 11 2020. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241810. URL https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0241810.
- Richard A. Plunz, Yijia Zhou, Maria Isabel Carrasco Vintimilla, Kathleen Mckeown, Tao Yu, Laura Uguccioni, and Maria Paola Sutto. Twitter sentiment in new york city parks as measure of well-being. Landscape and Urban Planning, 189:235-246, 2019. ISSN 0169-2046. doi: https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.04.024. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0169204618305863.
- Jules Pretty, Jo Peacock, Martin Sellens, and Murray Griffin. The mental and physical health outcomes of green exercise. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 15:319– 337, 10 2005. doi: 10.1080/09603120500155963.
- Jörg Priess, Luis Valença Pinto, Ieva Misiune, and Julia Palliwoda. Ecosystem service use and the motivations for use in central parks in three european cities. *Land*, 10(2), 2021. ISSN 2073-445X. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2073-445X/10/2/154.
- Mohd Ali Waliyuddin A. Razak, Noriah Othman, and Nurul Nazyddah Mat Nazir. Connecting people with nature: Urban park and human well-being. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 222:476-484, 2016. ISSN 1877-0428. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.138. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877042816302129. ASEAN-Turkey ASLI QoL2015: AicQoL2015Jakarta, Indonesia, 25-27 April 2015.

- Daniel R. Richards and Bige Tunçer. Using image recognition to automate assessment of cultural ecosystem services from social media photographs. *Ecosystem Services*, 31:318-325, 2018. ISSN 2212-0416. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2017.09.004. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212041617301559. Assessment and Valuation of Recreational Ecosystem Services.
- Hannah Ritchie and Max Roser. Urbanization. Our World in Data, 2018. https://ourworldindata.org/urbanization.
- Muhammad Rizwan, Wanggen Wan, Ofelia Cervantes, and Luc Gwiazdzinski. Using locationbased social media data to observe check-in behavior and gender difference: Bringing weibo data into play. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 7(5), 2018. ISSN 2220-9964. doi: 10.3390/ijgi7050196. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2220-9964/7/5/196.
- Helen Victoria Roberts. Using twitter data in urban green space research: A case study and critical evaluation. Applied Geography, 81:13-20, 2017. ISSN 0143-6228. doi: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.apgeog.2017.02.008. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0143622816301692.
- Jenny Roe, Catharine Thompson, Peter Aspinall, Mark Brewer, Elizabeth Duff, David Miller, Richard Mitchell, and Angela Clow. Green space and stress: Evidence from cortisol measures in deprived urban communities. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10:4086–4103, 09 2013. doi: 10.3390/ijerph10094086.
- Said A Salloum, Mostafa Al-emran, Azza Abdel Monem, and Khaled Shaalan. and of Text Mining in Social Media : Facebook Twitter Perspec-А Survey tives. Advances in Science, Technology and Engineering Systems Journal, 2(1): 2017.http://astesj.com/archive/volume-2/volume-2-issue-1/ 127 - 133, URL survey-text-mining-social-media-facebook-twitter-perspectives/.
- Daniel Saucier, Pierre Philippe Wilson Registe, Mathieu Bélanger, and Colleen O'Connell. Urbanization, air pollution, and water pollution: Identification of potential environmental risk factors associated with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis using systematic reviews. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 14, 03 2023. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1108383.
- Ernst J. Schaefer, Joi A. Gleason, and Michael L. Dansinger. Dietary fructose and glucose differentially affect lipid and glucose homeostasis. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 139(6):1257S-1262S, 2009. ISSN 0022-3166. doi: https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.108.098186. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022316622065749.
- Jasper Schipperijn, Ulrika K. Stigsdotter, Thomas B. Randrup, and Jens Troelsen. Influences on the use of urban green space – a case study in odense, denmark. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 9(1):25–32, 2010. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2009.09.002. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1618866709000624.
- Uta Schirpke, Erich Tasser, Manuel Ebner, and Ulrike Tappeiner. What can geotagged photographs tell us about cultural ecosystem services of lakes? *Ecosystem Services*, 51:101354, 2021. ISSN 2212-0416. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2021.101354. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212041621001121.

- Samantha S.K. Scholte, Michiel Daams, Hans Farjon, Frans J. Sijtsma, Astrid J.A. van Teeffelen, and Peter H. Verburg. Mapping recreation as an ecosystem service: Considering scale, interregional differences and the influence of physical attributes. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 175: 149–160, 2018. ISSN 0169-2046. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.03.011. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169204618300860.
- Klaus Seeland, Sabine Dübendorfer, and Ralf Hansmann. Making friends in zurich's urban forests and parks: The role of public green space for social inclusion of youths from different cultures. Forest Policy and Economics, 11(1):10–17, 2009. ISSN 1389-9341. doi: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.forpol.2008.07.005. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1389934108000518.
- Carrie Sessions, Spencer A. Wood, Sergey Rabotyagov, and David M. Fisher. Measuring recreational visitation at u.s. national parks with crowd-sourced photographs. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 183:703-711, 2016. ISSN 0301-4797. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016. 09.018. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301479716306685.
- Yanan Shen, Fengyun Sun, and Yue Che. Public green spaces and human wellbeing: Mapping the spatial inequity and mismatching status of public green space in the central city of shanghai. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 27:59–68, 2017.
- Noam Shoval and Rein Ahas. The use of tracking technologies in tourism research: the first decade. *Tourism Geographies*, 18(5):587–606, 2016. doi: 10.1080/14616688.2016.1214977.
- Jisoo Sim, Patrick Miller, and Samarth Swarup. Tweeting the high line life: A social media lens on urban green spaces. Sustainability, 12(21), 2020. ISSN 2071-1050. doi: 10.3390/su12218895. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/21/8895.
- Michael Sinclair, Andrea Ghermandi, and Albert M. Sheela. A crowdsourced valuation of recreational ecosystem services using social media data: An application to a tropical wetland in india. Science of The Total Environment, 642:356-365, 2018. ISSN 0048-9697. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.056. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969718321272.
- Xiao Ping Song, Daniel R. Richards, Peijun He, and Puay Yok Tan. Does geo-located social media reflect the visit frequency of urban parks? a city-wide analysis using the count and content of photographs. Landscape and Urban Planning, 203:103908, 2020a. ISSN 0169-2046. doi: https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2020.103908. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0169204619315014.
- Xiao Ping Song, Daniel R. Richards, and Puay Yok Tan. Using social media user attributes to understand human–environment interactions at urban parks. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 01 2020b. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-57864-4.
- Yang Song and Bo Zhang. Using social media data in understanding site-scale landscape architecture design: taking seattle freeway park as an example. *Landscape Research*, 45(5):627–648, 2020. doi: 10.1080/01426397.2020.1736994.

- Evaggelos Spyrou and Phivos Mylonas. Analyzing flickr metadata to extract location-based information and semantically organize its photo content. *Neurocomputing*, 172:114–133, 2016. ISSN 0925-2312. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucom.2014.12.104. URL https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0925231215005974.
- Maruthaveeran Sreetheran. Exploring the urban park use, preference and behaviours among the residents of kuala lumpur, malaysia. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 25:85-93, 2017. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2017.05.003. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1618866716303193.
- Patrizia Tenerelli, Urška Demšar, and Sandra Luque. Crowdsourcing indicators for cultural ecosystem services: A geographically weighted approach for mountain landscapes. *Ecological Indicators*, 64:237-248, 2016. ISSN 1470-160X. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.12.042. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X16000030.
- Henrikki Tenkanen, Enrico Di Minin, Vuokko Heikinheimo, Anna Hausmann, Marna Herbst, Liisa Kajala, and Tuuli Toivonen. Instagram, flickr, or twitter: Assessing the usability of social media data for visitor monitoring in protected areas. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 12 2017. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-18007-4.
- Caoimhe Twohig-Bennett and Andy Jones. The health benefits of the great outdoors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of greenspace exposure and health outcomes. *Environmental research*, 166:628–637, 2018.
- Liisa Tyrväinen, Ann Ojala, Kalevi Korpela, Timo Lanki, Yuko Tsunetsugu, and Takahide Kagawa. The influence of urban green environments on stress relief measures: A field experiment. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 38:1–9, 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvp.2013.12.005. URL http://www.tlu.ee/~arro/Happy%20Space%20EKA%202014/urban%20green\_stress%200jala%20jt.pdf.
- Calvin Wan, Geoffrey Qiping Shen, and Stella Choi. Eliciting users' preferences and values in urban parks: Evidence from analyzing social media data from hong kong. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 62:127172, 2021. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127172. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1618866721001977.
- Ruoyu Wang, H.E.M. Matthew Browning, Xiaofei Qin, Jialv He, Wenjie Wu, Yao Yao, and Ye Liu. Visible green space predicts emotion: Evidence from social media and street view data. Applied Geography, 148:102803, 2022. ISSN 0143-6228. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2022. 102803. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0143622822001746.
- Spencer A. Wood, Anne D. Guerry, Jessica M. Silver, and Martin Lacayo. Using social media to quantify nature-based tourism and recreation. *Scientific Reports*, 3, 10 2013. doi: 10.1038/ srep02976. URL https://www.nature.com/articles/srep02976/.
- Heather E. Wright Wendel, Rebecca K. Zarger, and James R. Mihelcic. Accessibility and usability: Green space preferences, perceptions, and barriers in a rapidly urbanizing city in latin america. Landscape and Urban Planning, 107(3):272-282, 2012. ISSN 0169-2046. doi: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2012.06.003. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0169204612001892.

- Yang Xiao, Zhigang Li, and Chris Webster. Estimating the mediating effect of privately-supplied green space on the relationship between urban public green space and property value: Evidence from shanghai, china. *Land Use Policy*, 54:439–447, 07 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2016.03. 001.
- Ning Xu, Yuning Cheng, and Xiaodong Xu. Using location quotients to determine public-natural space spatial patterns: A zurich model. *Sustainability*, 10(10), 2018. ISSN 2071-1050. doi: 10.3390/su10103462. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/10/10/3462.
- Ning Xu, Jianguo Wang, and Wei Wang. Revealing urban public space patterns through quantitative comparison between the old city of nanjing and zurich. *Sustainability*, 11(13), 2019. ISSN 2071-1050. doi: 10.3390/su11133687. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/13/3687.
- Sai Zhang and Weiqi Zhou. Recreational visits to urban parks and factors affecting park visits: Evidence from geotagged social media data. Landscape and Urban Planning, 180:27–35, 2018. ISSN 0169-2046. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.08.004. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169204618307370.
- Xinxin Zhang, Wenfei Zhu, Sifan Kang, Longkun Qiu, Zijun Lu, and Yuliang Sun. Association between physical activity and mood states of children and adolescents in social isolation during the covid-19 epidemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17: 7666, 10 2020. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17207666.
- Bolei Zhou, Agata Lapedriza, Aditya Khosla, Aude Oliva, and Antonio Torralba. Places: A 10 million image database for scene recognition. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence*, 40(6):1452–1464, 2018. doi: 10.1109/TPAMI.2017.2723009.
- Wentong Zhou and Taketoshi Ushiama. Automatic generation of pictorial maps from photos on social media to represent regional features. In 2020 14th International Conference on Ubiquitous Information Management and Communication (IMCOM), pages 1–5, 2020. doi: 10.1109/IMCOM48794.2020.9001685.
- Jiyou Zhu and Chengyang Xu. Sina microblog sentiment in beijing city parks as measure of demand for urban green space during the covid-19. Urban Forestry Urban Greening, 58: 126913, 2021. ISSN 1618-8667. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2020.126913. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1618866720307305.

**Personal declaration** I hereby declare that the submitted Thesis is the result of my own, independent work. All external sources are explicitly acknowledged in the Thesis.

Zurich, September 25, 2023

zhang Anjing Anjing Zhang